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l. Summary and Recommendations 

One year ago, less than two months after assuming the presidency, Ernesto Ponce de León ordered a 
crackdown on the Zapatista National Liberation Army (Ejército Zapatista de Liberación Nacional, EZLN). As the 
Mexican army fought to regain territory in which the EZLN had operated since January 1994, federal and state police 
worked in tandem to arrest men and women accused of leading or supporting the Zapatistas. On February 8 and 9, 
officials detained more than twenty alleged EZLN members in three states and the Federal District. During the 
operation, they committed serious violations ofMexican and international human rights standards, including torture, 
the extraction of confessions by force, and the disregard of due-process guarantees. Most of the alleged Zapatistas 
remain in jail, charged with crimes such as rebellion and sedition. 

In a televised address from the presidential palace on February 9, 1995, President Zedilla informed Mexico 
that he had ordered the offensive to assist the Office ofthe Attorney General (Procuraduría General de la República, 
PGR) in carrying out arrest warrants against five alleged EZLN commanders, whose names he read on the air, 
including that of the EZLN's spokesman known as Subcommander Marcos. Explaining the motive for the 
crackdown, the president announced that his govemment had identified several EZLN leaders, discovered safehouses 
and weapons, and leamed of guerrilla plans to commit acts of violence. Zedillo al so spoke of the government's 
determination "not to remain indifferent to violations ofthe Constitution, which in this case clearly imply a threat 
against the people ofMexico and public order.'11 Within five days of launching the February offensive, the army had 
succeeded in retaking EZLN areas. 

Since the beginning of the armed conflict between the Mexican Army and the EZLN, Human Rights 
Watch!Americas has documented violations ofhuman rights and humanitarian law committed by both sides.2 Human 
Rights Watchl Americas sent two fact-finding missions to Mexico to investigate the February 1995 detentions. Based 
on ana1yses oftria1 documents and interviews with eighteen ofthe detainees, Human Rights Watch/Americas-has 
concluded that during and after the crackdown, the very officials responsible fór protecting Mexican citizens 
committed serious violations ofMexican law and intemational human rights norms regarding due process and the 
treatment of detainees. Human Rights Watch/Americas did not attempt to ascertain the guilt or innocence ofthe 
accused, but rather the legality of the processes used to detain, investigate, and prosecute them, as well as the 
treatment they received in detention. 

President Zedilla himselfhas publicly recognized the problems ofhuman rights violations and impunity that 
exist in Mexico, and constitutional and legal reforms designed to protect human rights have been enacted in recent 
years. The cases documented in this report, however, make a powerful argument for the government of Mexico to 
undertake a concerted effort to convert formal human rights safeguards and official human rights policy statements 
into real human rights protections and the punishment of human rights violators. Existing Mexican safeguards 
designed to eliminate torture and forced confessions can only be effective if politicalleaders, including President 
Zedilla, issue clear directives to their subordinates that these laws must be followed and that any breach will be fully 
and immediately prosecuted. The Office ofthe Attomey General must investigate all allegations oftorture and refuse 
to admit testimony provided under torture. As long as police, prosecutors, and judges see prohibitions of torture as 
rhetorical commitments by the government, state agents will continue to view torture and forced confessions as 
1egitimate methods of conducting their work. 

1 "President Ernesto Zedillo's Address on the Chiapas Situation," Mexico City, February 9, 1995, translation circulated 
by the Embassy ofMexico in Washington, D.C. 

2 See, for example: Human Rights Watch/ Americas, Mexico: The New Year 's Rebellion: Violations of Human Rights 
and Humanitarian Law During the Armed Revolt in Chiapas, Vol VI, No. 3, March 1, 1994; Human Rights Watch/Americas and 
Physicians for Human Rights, Waitingfor Justice in Chiapas(December 1994); and Human Rights Watch/Americas, Mexico: 
Army Officer Held "Responsible"for Chiapas Massacre: Accused Found Dead at Defense Ministry, Vol. 7, No. 7, June 1995. 
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Among its findings, Human Rights Watch/Americas documented the following: 

• Four ofseven detainees arrested in Yanga, Veracruz, on February 8, 1995, and later interviewed by Human 
Rights Watch/Americas, reported being subjected to gross physical and psychological torture, including near 
drowning and electric shocks. They now face charges based, in part, on coerced confessions. The 
governmental National Human Rights Commission (Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos, CNDH) 
found that the Office of the Attorney General tried to cover up the abuses. Government prosecutors ha ve 
failed to investigate the allegations of torture. 

• Police severely beat the detainees from Cacalomacán, State of Mexico, on February 9; one reported to 
Human Rights Watch/Americas that officials tortured him by placing a plastic bag over his head. While in 
detention, officials blindfolded the detainees, deprived one with gunshot wounds of medica! care for forty­
eight hours, and forced them to sign confessions incriminating themselves. Military officials held one of the 
detainees incommunicado for fifteen days, in violation ofMexican law. 

• Authorities subjected detainees to intimidating and harassing treatment, including blindfolding them and 
forcing them to listen to incessant noise in the form of radio music played at full volume, which prevented 
them from sleeping or resting. · 

• The procedures used by police to detain and transport suspects in these cases included blatantly illegal 
kidnaping-style practices, although in sorne cases officials evidently made efforts to maintain legal standards, 
at least for the sake of appearances. In the case of María Gloria Benavides, for instance, poli ce obtained a 
search warrant for her house after a man claimed that someone had robbed him outside Benavides's borne 
and that his assailant had entered her house. The man never appeared in court to ratify his complaint. In the 
case ofthe detainees in Yanga, police searched the house using a warrant obtained for a completely different 
case. Veracruz police effectively abducted Víctor Hugo García Santiago and his parents, Alejandro García 
and María de los Angeles Santiago, and held them for two and a half days in premises belonging to the state 
government, in arder to bring pressure on their other son, Francisco, to turn himself in. 

• In the Yanga, Cacalomacán, and Benavides cases, detainees may have been held and interrogated under army 
custody. Only the Office of the Attorney General is allowed under Mexican law to hold in detention and 
question suspects. 

• Rather than ensure immediate and impartía! investigations of allegations of torture, government prosecutors 
continue to press charges based on testimony obtained through torture or under duress or given by detainees 
without adequate legal defense. In the Y anga case, a judge ruled that evidence of torture, even if proven, 
would not invalidate the self-incriminating statements used as a basis for prosecution. 

• Government and judicial authorities ha ve failed to take proper steps to investigate the abuses, identify the 
state agents responsible, and enforce existing laws designed to protect citizens from abuses, such as the 
Federal Law to Prevent and Punish Torture. The law requires that allegations oftorture be investigated, but 
even given CNDH documentation of torture in the Yanga case, no such investigation has been undertaken. 
In the Cacalomacán case, representatives of the Office of the Attorney General sought to interview the 
detainees regarding their allegations oftorture, but, because the officials reportedly did not give prior notice 
to them or their lawyers, the detainees did not trust the investigators enough to grant the interviews. 
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• Members ofthe legal team defending the alleged Zapatistas, which is coordinated by the Miguel Agustín 
Pro Juárez Human Rights Center (Centro para los Derechos Humanos "Miguel Agustín Pro Juárez," Prodh),3 

have received death threats. 

• Charges have been dropped against two of the detainees, a positive step taken by the courts, which refused 
to continue the prosecutions based on the questionable or illegally obtained evidence presented by 
prosecutors. In one of these cases, that of María Gloria Benavides, the judge who threw out the case ruled 
that the govemment had illegally searched her borne and, therefore, could not use the evidence it had 
gathered there against her. The judge also ruled that her own statements could not be used against her 
because they had been extracted by authorities who failed to respect her constitutional rights. 

Recommendations 
Human Rights Watch/Americas urges President Ernesto Zedilla to order the adoption of concrete and 

effective measures to eradicate the practices of torture and forced confessions, and to initiate immediately an 
investigation into the abuses committed during the detentions documented in this report. 

Mexican legislation expressly prohibits and penalizes the use oftorture and renders invalid legal statements 
made under torture. Nonetheless, these practices persist, pointing to the need for Mexico to adopt further legislation 
to end these abuses and adopt measures to ensure that officials comply with these laws and punish those who vio late 
them. Further legislation should focus on eliminating precedents that give greater weight to the first official 
statement a detainee makes -- which is more frequently given under duress -- than to statements given before judges. 
Such reforms should also seek to establish greater independence between police investigations, prosecutors' 
development of charges, and judges' decisions to indict suspects. Allegations of torture should be quickly and 
thoroughly investigated in a way that gives victims confidence in the integrity of the investigation. 

No legislation, no matter how well crafted or detailed, will end torture or the use of forced confessions if 
govemment officials do not prosecute those agents who engage in these practices. In all cases documented in this 
report, we urge that a detailed investigation by the Office ofthe Attomey General be undertaken to determine who 
is responsible for the human rights violations committed by federal and state officials. Further, the results ofthe 
attomey general's investigation should be made public and should be followed by the timely prosecution of state 
agents implicated in wrongdoing. The govemment of Mexico should begin a systematic review of allegations of 
torture or other cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment, beginning with the detailed information on the issue gathered 
and analyzed by the National Human Rights Commission over the last five years. Those implicated in committing 
these abuses should be prosecuted and punished according to the law. 

Regarding the detainees, information obtained through torture and other illegal practices should be 
disregarded by prosecutors and judges. Where such information forms the only basis for indictments, the accused 
should be immediately released without charges. Human Rights Watch/Americas recognizes and appreciates that 
in the case of María Gloria Benavides, a judge acquitted her in November on the grounds that the information the 
state had against her had been obtained illegally. 

The Mexican govemment should immediately cease using unauthorized detention centers, such as the Campo 
Military No. 1 (Military Camp No. 1 ). The govemment of Mexico must make a concerted effort to ensure that, 
consistent with intemational guidelines, detainees are registered at their place of detention, reports of false or 
incomplete registration are immediately investigated, and authorities found responsible for violations are prosecuted. 
The govemment ofMexico should design and implementa program to modemize the registration process, so that 

3 The defense team is made up ofEnrique Flota, Pilar Noriega, José Lavanderos, Digna Ochoa, and Víctor Brenes. 
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the names of detainees and their places of detention can immediately and accurately be obtained throughout the 
country by defense attomeys and govemment officials. 

In 1995, as in previous years, the Mexican govemment rejected a request from the United Nations special 
rapporteur on torture, Nigel S. Rodley, to visit Mexico. The Mexican govemment should immediately and 
unconditionally permit the special rapporteur to visit Mexico. The special rapporteur should continue to pressure the 
Mexican govemment to allow him into the country. 

The United States must make clear and public statements denouncing the serious human rights violations 
committed during the February 1995 offensive. The silence ofthe United States on human rights issues in Mexico, 
combined with its support for the Zedilla govemment and economic integration, send the unambiguous message that 
human rights abuses in Mexico are not of concem to the United States. Further, the United States and Mexico are 
currently reviewing the possibility of developing a training and exchange program for Mexican police, judges, and 
prosecutors. U .S. financia! assistance for Mexican poli ce and the administration of justice should be used by the 
United States as part of a broader strategy to promote human rights reforms in Mexico; the U.S. should include clear 
human rights goals in the exchange and training program. lfMexican officials fail to make demonstrable progress 
into investigating cases of abuse by police and prosecutors, such as the violations committed during the February 
1995 crackdown, the United States should consider withdrawing such assistance. 

The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, which has been invited by Mexico to conduct a fact­
finding miss ion, should meet with a range of nongovemmental human rights activists throughout the country and 
publish a detailed report on its findings. Planned for sometime in 1996, this will be the commission' s first visit to 
Mexico; Human Rights Watch/Americas recognizes the importance ofMexico's invitation to the commission and 
urges that the mission proceed as quickly as is feasible. 

11. Mexican and International Standards Related to Torture 

Despite Mexican and intemational law designed to eliminate and punish torture, torture and impunity for 
torturers remain serious problems in Mexico. According to the National Human Rights Commission (CNDH), 103 
of952 recommendations that it issued between 1990 and August 1995 documented the use oftorture.4 The CNDH 
addressed the majority of its torture-related recommendations to the Office of the Attorney General, whose 
employees, particularly the Federal Judicial Police, it found to have been responsible for the violations.5 Further, 
despite the high number oftorture cases in Mexico in recent years and the detail contained in CNDH documentation, 
by August 1995 the CNDH had documented only four instances in which a court had found an agent of the 

4 Lic. Jorge Madrazo, "Logros de la CNDH en la Lucha contra la Tortura," speech delivered on August 10, 1995, 
reproduced in Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos (CNDH), Gaceta, #61, August 1995, p. 12. 

5 The Office of the Attomey General (Procuraduría General de la República) is the entity responsible for the 
investigation of crimes, the custody of suspects being investigated, the provision of public defenders, the solicitation to judges 
that suspects be indicted, and the prosecution of criminal suspects. Within the Office of the Attomey General, the Public Ministry 
(Ministerio Público) is the branch responsible for taking the testimony of suspects, developing charges, and prosecuting cases. 
Al so within the Office of the Attomey General, Judicial Po !ice work to investigate crimes, and specialists, such as forensic 
experts, work to gather evidence. There is a federal Office ofthe Attomey General that works on a nationallevel, and each state 
and the Federal District ha ve their own such offices that works on crimes within the state or Federal District jurisdiction. Once 
the Office ofthe Attomey General has established that a crime has taken place and has identified the probable guilty party, an 
agent of the office will request that a judge open a criminal case against the suspect. Agents of the Office of the Attomey General 
take initial testimony, or declarations (declaraciones), from detainees prior to their indictment or release without charges. Later, 
detainees will ha ve the chance to make additional statements befo re a judge, who will rule on whether or not to indict the suspect. 
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government guilty oftorture. The government ofMexico has refused to allow the United Nations special rapporteur 
on torture, Nigel S. Rodley, to visit the country. 

Human Rights Watch/Americas is aware of governmental measures to combat torture in Mexico, including 
constitutional reforrns in 1993 that prohibited the use as evidence of statements to the poli ce made by detainees. Only 
statements made befare agents ofthe Office ofthe Attorney General or ajudge are now valid. In addition, a 1991 
law, the Federal Law to Prevent and Punish Torture, prohibits and penalizes the use of torture. Further, the 
detainee's lawyer or a "person of confidence" must be present during the period that detainees give official 
statements or confessions to agents ofthe Office ofthe Attorney General.6 These changes were made expressly to 
eliminate abuses committed by police and those committed by government officials who might have felt more free 
to force confessions or beat suspects who did not have legal representation or someone oftheir confidence who would 
witness any official statements made.7 

The Federal Law to Prevent and Punish Torture holds, ''No confession or inforrnation obtained through 
torture can be used as evidence."8 While this law covers only federal employees, twenty-nine of Mexico's thirty-one 
states also have specific laws to eliminate and punish torture or penal codes that do so, according to the CNDH.9 In 
a provision designed to eliminate torture, the Mexican Constitution also invalidates confessions obtained from 
detainees without the presence of a legal defender or "person of confidence."10 International law also expressly 
forbids torture and the use of confessions obtained through torture, as established in the Convention Against Torture 
and Other Cruel, Inhuman and Degrading Treatment or Punishment and the Inter-American Convention to Prevent 
and Punish Torture. 11 The forrner holds that "Each S tate Party shall take effective legislative, administrative, judicial 
or other measures to prevent acts of torture in any territory under its jurisdiction" and to make sure that torture is 
considered a criminal act under its domestic legislation. 12 Further, it establishes, "Each State Party shall ensure that 

6 Constitutional refonns in 1993 established the "person of confidence," who does not have to be a lawyer. The refonns 
gave detainees the right to ha ve someone they trust present when they give official statements to agents of the Office of the 
Attorney General. 

7 One problem with these refonns has been that pressure against detainees can take place before he or she makes an 
official declaration to the agent ofthe Public Ministry, and, therefore, before a "person of confidence" or lawyer is present. The 
authorities responsible for investigating crimes, taking testimony from detainees, holding detainees in custody, and detennining 
whether or not to seek prosecution are coordinated by the same government entity, the Office ofthe Attorney General. A detainee 
who has been intimidated and knows that, once the declaration is given, she or he will once again be alone in the custody of the 
same officials to whom the declaration was given, may well provide a false statement, even with a lawyer or "person of 
confidence" present at the time the statement is taken. Further, there is no guarantee that a "person of confidence" will be able 
to detect or protect against violations of the rights of detainees. This problem is complicated by the fact that, according to 
Mexican jurisprudence, the frrst declaration made to officials has more judicial weight than later declarations, so even if a suspect 
recants and te lis the judge the she or he was pressured into signing a statement, the initial statement can be accepted as proof 
against the suspect. 

8 Ley Federal para Prevenir y Sancionar la Tortura, Article 8. 

9 Madraza, "Logros de la CNDH en la Lucha contra la Tortura." 

10 "Confessions given before any authority other than one of the Public Ministry ora judge, or before them without the 
presence ofhis or her defender, will1ack all va1ue as evidence." Constitution ofMexico, Artic1e 20(2). 

11 The Inter-American Convention to Prevent and Punish Torture entered into force on February 28, 1987; Mexico 
ratified it on June 22, 1987. 

12 Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman, or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, Articles 2(1) and 4. 
The Convention entered into force on June 26, 1987. Mexico ratified the Convention on January 23, 1986. 
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any statement which is established to ha ve been made as a result of torture shall not be invoked as evidence in any 
proceedings, except against a person accused oftorture as evidence that the statement was made." The International 
Covenant on Civil and Political Rights also prohibits torture and forced confessions. 13 

The Mexican govemment's steps to ensure that the rights of detainees are respected have clearly been 
inadequate, as the abuses documented in this report attest. Nonetheless, leading human rights activists working for 
govemmental institutions that ha ve tracked cases of torture ha ve identified positive, if insufficient, results from these 
measures. Dr. Luis de la Barreda Solórzano, the president of the govemmental Human Rights Commission of the 
Federal District, argues in a recent book, La lid contra la tortura (The Fight Against Torture), that these initiatives 
have indeed constituted positive steps toward the eradication of torture, but that torture is still a problem. 14 Similarly, 
in a speech in August 1995, Lic. Jorge Madrazo, the president of the governmental National Human Rights 
Commission, recognized important gains made in fighting torture in Mexico, but called attention to the continuing 
use of torture by state agents who enjoy impunity for their crimes. Lic. Madrazo pointed out that, sin ce 1990, the 
number of new torture cases documented by the CNDH had dropped, but emphasized that "a lot remains to be done 
to sensitize govemment officials to the importance of ensuring that torture is punished severely and in accordance 
with the law." 15 

The absence high-level political will to end impunity for the govemment agents who torture and the 
judiciary's continuing refusal to push prosecutors to eliminate torture constitute serious impediments to torture's 
eradication. Further, as long as judges continue to cite Mexican jurisprudence that establishes the "principie of 
procedural immediacy," which holds that a detainee's first statement to authorities has greater value than later 
declarations, detainees who give their first statements under duress will never be able to retract the self-incriminating 
statements tortured out of them. Established through Mexican jurisprudence, the "principie of procedural 
immediacy" could be changed through legislation. 

m. Patterns of Abuse During the February 1995 Crackdown 

During the 1995 crackdown, the Mexican govemment fell into severa! pattems of abuse, including the use 
of forced confessions; the attempt to disguise arbitrary action as legal procedure; the abuse of the system of public 
defenders and representatives known as the "person of confidence;" the blindfolding of detainees; the seemingly 
intentional failure of govemment officials to process complaints of physical abuse or the taking of actions to cover 
up such abuses; and the ill-treatment of detainees, including torture. Intimidation and physical and psychological 
attacks against the detainees were common. Poli ce blindfolded the detainees in the Benavides, Y anga, and 
Cacalomacán cases, tortured detainees in Yanga, and beat the Cacalomacán prisoners and the father of detainee 
Francisco García. 

In violation of Mexican and intemational law, authorities also forced confessions from detainees. In the 
cases of María Gloria Benavides, the seven Yanga detainees, and the eight Cacalomacán detainees, government 

13 "No statement that is verified as having been obtained through torture shall be admissible as evidence in a legal 
proceeding, except in a legal action taken against a person or persons accused of having elicited through acts of torture, and only 
as evidence that the accused obtained such statement by such means." Inter-American Convention to Prevent and Punish Torture, 
Article 1 O. "In the detennination of any criminal charge against him, everyone shall be entitled ... not to be compelled to testify 
against himself orto confess guilt." Intemational Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Article 14(3)(g). Article 7 of the 
Covenant prohibits torture. The Covenant entered into force on March 23, 1976. Mexico acceded to it on March 23, 1981. 

14 Luis de la Barreda Solórzano, La lid contra la tortura (Mexico City: Cal y Arena, 1995). 

15 Madrazo, "Logros de la CNDH en la Lucha contra la Tortura." 
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officials forced self-incriminating confessions. In the case of Javier Elorriaga, a state-appointed lawyer urged him 
to sign a statement that he did not ha ve time to re-read, then officials altered the final version of the statement The 
Intemational Covenant on Civil and Political Rights holds that no one be "compelled to testify against himself or to 
confess guilt,"16 while the American Convention guarantees the right ofthe accused "not to be compelled to be a 
witness against himself."17 In addition, the American Convention establishes, "A confession of guilt by the accused 
shall be valid only if it is made without coercion of any kind."18 Mexico's Constitution and Law to Prevent and 
Punish Torture echo this standard. 19 

In the Benavides, Elorriaga, and Yanga cases, police and prosecutors violated due-process guarantees. In 
these cases, witnesses who testified against the alleged Zapatistas or the legal defenders assigned to the detainees 
could not be located by officials after they gave their initial statements or provided their "legal service," raising the 
troubling possibility that govemment officials falsified evidence and deprived detainees oftheir right toan adequate 
defense.20 In addition, the defense could not cross-examine these witnesses and defenders. Arrest warrants were 
faulty or missing in these cases. Police did not even make a pretense of following standard legal procedure in the 
García case, in which they illegally detained the suspect's brother, mother, and father to force him to tum himself 
m. 

Authorities also violated laws by holding detainees in unauthorized detention centers, incommunicado, or 
in unidentified locations. In the Benavides, Y anga, and Cacalomacán cases, the detainees reported being held in what 
they believed to be a military base, in violation ofMexican law that provides for the detention of suspects in facilities 
under the control ofthe Office ofthe Attomey General. In the Cacalomacán case, military officials held one suspect 
incommunicado for fifteen days, in violation ofMexican law that establishes that suspects be seen by ajudge within 
48 hours of their arrest. Intemational standards establish that the govemment must clearly register all detainees. 
According to the United Nations' Standard Mínimum Rules for the Treatment ofPrisoners, "In every place where 
persons are imprisoned there shall be kept a bound registration book [including] the reasons for his commitment and 
the authority therefor; and the day and hour of his admission and release."21 In the·Yanga case, the lack of proper 

16 Intemational Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Article 14(3)(g). 

17 American Convention on Human Rights, Article 8(2)(g). The Convention entered into force on July 18, 1978. 
Mexico acceded to the Convention on March 24, 1981. 

18 lbid. Article 8(3). 

19 Constitution ofMexico, Article 20(2) and Ley Federal para Prevenir y Sancionar la Tortura, Article 8. 

20 According to the Mexican Constitution, a detainee has the right to an "adequate defense" provided by him or herself, 
a "person of confidence" who does not necessarily have to be a lawyer, a lawyer ofhis or her own choosing, ora state-appointed 
attomey. (Constitution ofMexico, Article 20(9).] The American Convention on Human Rights and the Intemational Covenant 
on Civil and Political Rights also establish the right ofthe accused to be assisted by legal counsel ofhis or her own choosing, 
orto defend him or herself. [American Convention on Human Rights, Article 8(2)( d) and Intemational Covenant on Civil and 
Political Rights, Article 14(3)(d).] Mexico's Constitution also requires that defendants be able to cross-examine their accusers 
in court. [Constitution ofMexico, Article 20(4).] This requirement is also found in intemational fair trial standards, including 
the American Convention on Human Rights, which guarantees "the rights of the defense to examine¡witnesses present in the 
court 'and the Intemational Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. (American Convention on Human Rights, Article 8(2)t) and 
Intemational Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Article 14(3)(e).] 

21 Standard Mínimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners, Article 7. Although not a binding agreement, the Standard 
Mínimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners is recognized as offering authoritative guidance as to binding customary 
intemationallaw and treaty standards on the treatment of prisoners. 
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registration has led to a situation in which it has been impossible to identify which poli ce services were responsible 
for the torture inflicted on the detainees. 

Detainees in need of medica! attention should have received it. In the Cacalomacán and Yanga cases, 
however, detainees reported that they did not receive medica! attention for days. In the García case, a government 
official appears to ha ve intentionally failed to process complaints of physical abuse filed by García' s father. In the 
Yanga case, authorities appear to have intentionally mis-recorded information about the detainees' medica! 
conditions. 22 

As ofthe time this report went to press, government officials had begun to investigate only one ofthe cases 
of alleged torture, in Cacalomacán, State of Mexico, and they did not do so in a manner that gave the detainees 
sufficient confidence in the process so asto cooperate with the investigation. The other cases remain uninvestigated, 
adding to the long legacy of impunity for Mexican officials who vio late human rights, and throwing into doubt the 
commitment ofthe Zedilla administration to confront and end human rights violations committed by the agents of 
his government. 

IV. Torture and Other Abuses During the 1995 Crackdown 

A) María Gloria Benavides Guevara23 

Police arrested María Gloria Benavides, whom the government claims is Zapatista leader "Comandante 
Elisa," at approximately 4:15p.m. on February 8, 1995, after they raided her home in Mexico City. Prosecutors 
charged her with rebellion, terrorism, criminal conspiracy, and possession ofunauthorized weapons. On July 14, 
after ajudge dropped the terrorism charge, Benavides left prison on bail. On November 1, ajudge acquitted her of 
all charges, though the Mexican government has appealed the decision. 

Prosecutors based the most serious charges against Benavides on questionable and illegally obtained 
evidence. Police justified the raid on her home on a complaint by a man named Odilón Hernández Flores, who 
reported to police that three well-armed men and an armed woman robbed him outside a home that turned out to be 
Benavides's in the morning ofFebruary 8. Hernández said that the assailants entered the house after the robbery.24 

According to Benavides, police did not show her a warrant, though they maintained that they had one.25 The police 
gained entry to her home by pretending to be friends ofher in-laws. 

22 Mexican law requires that detainees in need of medica! attention cannot ha ve their medica! needs overlooked while 
in detention. (Código Federal de Procedimientos Penales, Articles 188-192.) Further, the Federal Law to Prevent and Punish 
Torture requires that a doctor investigating torture must report his or her findings. (Ley Federal para Prevenir y Sancionar la 
Tortura, Article 7.) In addition, intemational standards provide guidance similar guidance. According to the Standard Minimum 
Rules, "The medica! officer shall see and examine every prisoner as soon as possible after his admission and thereafter as 
necessary, with a view particularly to ... the taking of all necessary measures" to treat the prisoner. (Standard Minimum Rules 
for the Treatment ofPrisoners, Article 24.) 

23 María Gloria Benavides goes by the name "Elisa" Benavides. On the grounds that, during the search ofher house, 
police found passports with other names but with her picture, court documents in the case make reference to her as "Elisa 
Benavides Alcocer, or Olivia Alcocer Ruiz, or Balbina Flores, or María Gloria Benavides Guevara." 

24 Sixth District Court ofCriminal Matters ofthe Federal District, sentence in case No. 17/95, November 1, 1995. 

25 Human Rights Watch/Americas telephone interview with María Gloria Benavides, January 11, 1996. 
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In their investigation ofthe alleged robbery, police claimed that neighbors ofBenavides, whom police said 
refused to provide their names to investigators, said that armed people frequently entered and left the Benavides 
borne. Hernández gave police a false address for his residence; not only did the street number not exist, but 
Hernández gave the o id name of a street whose name had changed. 26 After giving his initial complaint, the alleged 
robbery victim could not be located by the police to ratify the information he gaveP 

Benavides said that police blindfolded her and took her to a building on which, through her blindfold and 
by the lights of the car, she saw the words "military prison." According to the account she provided to CNDH 
officials on February 14, a radio blasted at high volume during her interrogation and for the following day anda half, 
preventing her from sleeping.28 Authorities forced her to undress for two medica! examinations and made her sigo 
a statement severa! pages in length that they did not permit her to read. Prosecutors denied her the right to have her 
own attorney present duringjudicial proceedings. Benavides told representatives ofMexican human rights groups 
that interrogators told her they also held her eighteen-month-old son, Vicente, and would harm him if she did not sign 
the confession. 

The case reveals two other irregularities. First, the same "person of confidence," Antonio Alvarado 
Hernández, witnessed and countersigned statements made by Benavides and by a man named Salvador Morales 
Garibay, one ofthe main state witnesses against severa! ofthe alleged Zapatistas. It would appear, therefore, that 
after prosecutors denied Benavides the right to choose her own attorney, they assigned her the same "person of 
confidence" as had been assigned to a key state witness. Second, an additional statement attributed to Benavides, 
made in the afternoon ofFebruary 9, suggests that prosecutors fabricated testimony and disregarded Benavides's 
right to adequate defense. A state-appointed legal defender named Julián César García AguiJar purportedly witnessed 
this second declaration, but, as the CNDH has noted, García's signature also appeared on the declaration of another 
alleged Zapatista, Luis Sánchez Navarrete, whom police detained in Yanga, Veracruz, on February 8. According 
to the official copies ofthe declarations ofBenavides and Sánchez, this legal defender signed both declarations at 
the same time on the same day, indicating that authorities may have fabricated one or both ofthe declarations. "This 
leads to the supposition," the CNDH wrote in its analysis of the Yanga case, "that the defense given to the [ detainees] 
during the initial investigation (averiguación previa) was notoriously irregular and deficient, if it existed at all."29 

On November 1, 1995, Judge Fernando Andrés Ortiz Cruz acquitted Benavides of all charges, arguing that 
the poli ce did not ha ve a val id search warrant and that the state never proved the existen ce of the alleged victim of 
the robbery outside Benavides's borne. Judge Ortiz stopped short of reviewing the actual treatment received by 
Benavides, relying instead onjurisprudence from the First Court ofthe Sixth Circuit, which had defined a coerced 
statement as one given without the constitutional guarantees regarding search and seizure being met: 

By virtue of the reasoning presented above, one cannot but conclude legally that confessions 
provided by María Gloria Benavides Guevara ... before the agent ofthe Federal Public Ministry 
were extracted though physical and mental pressure, because, in addition to the fact that she stated 
before this court that this was the case ... , so has held the First Court ofthe Sixth Circuit. .. , which 

26 Sixth District Court, sentence in case No. 17/95. 

27 Centro de Derechos Humanos "Miguel Agustín Pro Juárez," press release, May 8, 1995, and Sixth District Court, 
sentence in case No. 17/95. 

28 Comisión Nacional de Derechso Humanos, "Newsletter," No. 24, February 1995, p. 11. 

86. 

29 Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos, Recommendation 50/95, reproduced in Gaceta, No. 57, April 1995, p. 
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has said, "A forced confession is one given by a detained person ifthe requirements of Article 16 
ofthe Constitution have not been fulfilled."30 

Regardless of the outcome of the pending appeal of the acquittal of Benavides, the Mexican govemment 
should investigate the mistreatment ofBenavides, including the use of a blindfold on her; the possibility that she was 
held at Military Base No. 1; the denial of an adequate defense, including irregularities involving the "person of 
confidence" assigned to her; and the irregularities in the Hemández complaint, including what appears to be police 
fabrication ofthe complaint in order to justify the raid on Benavides's house. The govemrnent should prosecute those 
found responsible. 

B) Javier Elorriaga Berdegué 
Soldiers detained Javier Elorriaga Berdegué, a documentary film-maker and the husband of María Gloria 

Benavides, atthe Ejido Gabino Vásquez, in Chiapas, at 8:15a.m. on February 9. A helicopter belonging to the Office 
ofthe Attomey General flew him to Tuxtla Gutiérrez, Chiapas State, later that day. After an agent ofthe Office of 
the Attomey General questioned him, he was remanded into custody at the Cerro Hueco Prison in Tuxtla Gutiérrez 
on charges of sedition, mutiny, rebellion, terrorism, and conspiracy. On April 14, an appeals court judge dropped 
the "sedition" and "mutiny" charges. Elorriaga remains in Cerro Hueco Prison. 

In an interview with Human Rights Watch/Americas in Cerro Hueco Prison on April6, Elorriaga said that 
soldiers did not shown him an arrest warrant when they picked him up and that they denied him the right to contact 
a lawyer before questioning. According to defense attomeys working on the case, the official case file on Elorriaga 
does not contain an arrest warrant, though the CNDH notes that his arrest followed the issuance of a warrant.31 

Officials at the Office ofthe Attomey General did not allow him toread the statement they drew up, but they told 
him that in case of error, he would have an opportunity to correct and amend his statement when he appeared before 
the judge. His state-appointed attomey advised him to sign the statement, which he di d. He subsequently discovered 
that severa! ofhis statements had been transcribed incompletely and gave a misleading impression. In his statement 
to the judge he denied the charges categorically. In January 1996, Elorriaga said that he had been working as an 
intermediary between Subcommander Marcos and President Zedillo at the time ofhis arrest.32 

The evidence against Javier Elorriaga consists of the affidavit of Salvador Morales Garibay, Elorriaga's 
wife's forced confession, and his own declaration. On June 22, a judge ruled that Elorriaga would not be able to 
cross-examine one ofthe people alleged to have testified against him, his wife María Gloria Benavides, arguing that 
it was not possible to transport her from Mexico City, where she was in jail, to Chiapas.33 On January 2, 1996, a 
judge ruled against Elorriaga's court challenge ofthe indictment against him.34 

30 Sixth District Court, sentence in case No. 17/95. 

31 Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos, "Newsletter," No. 24, February 1995, p. 11. 

32 Te1ephone interview with the Centro para los Derechos Humanos "Miguel Agustin Pro Juárez," January 1 O, 1996; 
telephone interview with Pilar Noriega, January 1 O, 1996. 

33 Centro para los Derechos Humanos "Miguel Agustín Pro Juárez," press release, June 29, 1995. 

34 Centro para los Derechos Humanos "Miguel Agustín Pro Juárez," "Servicio Diario de Información de Derechos 
Humanos," January 4, 1996. 
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The prosecution's use ofthe testimony ofSalvador Morales Garibay, who accused Elorriaga ofheading the 
EZLN' s Ideology Commission, 35 is a matter of serious concem to Human Rights Watchl Americas. The whereabouts 
ofMorales have been a mystery ever since he gave his initial declaration in February 1995. On April 7, Morales 
failed to respond toa judicial summons to appear in court to ratify his declaration. Three days later, he failed to 
appear to face questioning by the defense. All told, he has failed to appear at least seven times for various court­
related procedures. As a result, Elorriaga has been unable to challenge in court the evidence that led to the most 
serious charges against him, in violation ofMexican and intemational standards requiring the accused to be able to 
cross-examine, in front of a judge, anyone who testifies against him or her. 

Further, the status of Morales and the nature of his testimony are in doubt. The Mexican government has 
given contradictory statements about Morales. Legal documents show that Morales testified toan agent ofthe Public 
Ministry, Lic. Eduardo Berdón, on February 8, 1995. However, according to lawyers consulted by Human Rights 
Watch/Americas, the form ofthe statement, in which Berdón first read Morales his rights under the Federal Code 
ofPenal Procedures, is typical of a preliminary statement made by a criminal suspect in custody. A senior official 
ofthe Interior Ministry seemed to confirm this in a February 17 briefing for foreign reporters, stating that Morales 
was one offour top commanders ofthe Zapatistas, and that he had been detained.36 On February 20, the attorney 
general, Antonio Lozano, contradicted this position, denying that Morales had ever been detained. He did so again 
on March 27 in Washington, D.C., ata meeting with Human Rights Watch/Americas and other human rights groups. 

Morales's February 8 statement does not indicate that authorities questioned him about his own activities 
asan alleged EZLN member, and it gives no reason for his alleged defection. IfMorales had been in detention when 
he gave his statement, he should have been available for court-ordered appearances, since Mexican law makes no 
provision for releasing confessed criminals, yet he did not appear.37 This suggests that authorities did either ofthree 
things: through incompetence or deliberation, they released a confessed criminal; they did not believe Morales's 
statement but used it anyway against Elorriaga; or they fabricated the testimony altogether. 

The Mexican govemment should initiate an investigation into the inadequate defense received by Elorriaga, 
the procedural irregularities in the case, and the possibility that the Garibay testimony was fabricated by prosecutors. 
Testimony used against Elorriaga that officials obtained illegally, such as that ofhis wife, María Gloria Benavides, 
should be disregarded by the courts. Any official found guilty of wrongdoing should be prosecuted. 

C) Jorge Santiago Santiago 
In his televised speech on February 9, President Zedilla declared Jorge Santiago Santiago to be a leader of 

the EZLN.38 The director ofthe Chiapas-based Social and Economic Development for the Mexican Indigenous 
People (Desarrollo Económico y Social de los Mexicanos Indígenas, DESMI), Santiago was arrested the following 
day. The testimony of Salvador Morales Garibay constituted the only evidence against him. On April 14, the 
appeals court in Tuxtla Gutiérrez ordered the charges against Santiago dropped after accepting the defense argument 
that the government had not substantiated its case. 

35 Agustín Ambriz and Ricardo Ravelo, "La PGR deja a Zedillo sin sustento jurídico en su decisión política de acusar 
y encarcelar a presuntos zapatistas," Proceso, Apri110, 1995, p. 15. 

36 Tim Golden, "Mexican Rights Monitor Says Sorne Guerrillas Were Tortured," New York Times, February 21 , 1995. 

37 No legal provisions exist in Mexico for plea bargaining or for the offer of complete or partial immunity from 
prosecution in retum for confidential information likely to lead to the solution of crimes. 

38 Presidencia de la República, Boletín de Prensa No. 150, February 9, 1995, p. 4. 
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D) Eight Detainees from Cacalomacán, State ofMexico: Fernando Domínguez Paredes, Joel Martínez Hernández, 
Gonzalo Sánchez Navarrete, Celia Martínez Guerrero, Patricia Jiménez Sánchez, Ofelia Hernández, Brenda 
Rodríguez Acosta, and Gerardo López López. 

Police arrested these eight detainees in Cacalomacán, State ofMexico, on February 9.39 Acting with a search 
warrant, police attempted to gain entry to the suspects' house. According to the National Human Rights 
Commission, "While trying to fulfill the arrest warrant, on February 9, 1995, State ofMexico Judicial Police officers 
were received by the people in the house with gunfire, which lasted for almost three hours."40 Several officers were 
wounded and one, José Manuel Sánchez, later died. 

Police took the detainees to the State Office ofthe Attorney General in Toluca, State ofMexico, and then 
to what they believed to be a military base. The detainees' beliefthat they were held briefly at Military Base No. 1 
was underscored by testimony from one of the arresting officers, who testified in court that he signed his declaration 
at the base, not at the S tate Office of the Attorney General, where he initially said he had given his declaration. 41 Two 
days after their detention, they were taken to the Reclusorio Norte, a detention center north of Mexico City. The 
detainees currently await trial in the Centro de Readaptación Social in Almoloya, in Toluca, S tate of Mexico, on 
charges of storing, possessing and manufacturing unauthorized weapons, terrorism, conspiracy, and homicide.42 

The CNDH carried out medical examinations ofthe Cacalomacán prisoners on February 11, the day oftheir 
transfer to the Reclusorio Norte, finding that all of them had wounds that they attributed to the police. 
"Responsibility for the injuries caused to the detainees will have to be distributed among all ofthe public servants 
who participated" in the arrests, the CNDH determined.43 According to the prisoners interviewed by Human Rights 
Watch/Americas, none ofthem received medical attention during the forty-eight hours oftheir police detention, 
although at the place they thought to be the military base called Campo Militar No. 1, they were made to strip several 
times for a medical examination. Despite these examinations, their injuries, which included, in one case, gunshot 
wounds, were reportedly not treated. In their declarations before ajudge, several ofthe prisoners retracted parts of 
the statements they made to the Office ofthe Attorney General, saying they had been blindfolded and threatened or 
pressured into signing. 

According to the Miguel Agustín Pro Juárez Human Rights Center, police have been unable to locate the 
state-appointed lawyers who assisted the detainees in giving their initial statements to officials of the Office of the 
Attorney General. In all but one case, the addresses they gave do not exist. The one state-appointed lawyer who has 

39 Human rights groups, including the government's National Human Rights Commission, ha ve been unable to determine 
a11 ofthe police forces that participated in the arrest, since police did not keep accurate records on the raid. 

40 Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos, "Informe Especial de la Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos sobre 
sus Acciones Realizadas en el Marco del Trastorno Interior del Estado de Chiapas, Entre el 9 y el 19 de Febrero de 1995," 
reproduced in Gaceta, No. 55, February 1995, p. 35. 

41 Centro para los Derechos Humanos "Miguel Agustín Pro Juárez," "Informe Narrativo sobre la Defensa Jurídica de 
los Presuntos Zapatistas Presos," September 25, 1995. 

42 On June 8, a charge of arms transporting was dropped. 

43 Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos, Gaceta, No. 55, February 1995, p. 36. 
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been located failed to respond to judicial summonses until January 19, 1996.44 In addition, according to defense 
lawyers, the arms allegedly found at the scene of the detention were not catalogued on the spot, in violation of 
Mexican law, so there is no way to know what the police really encountered in the house. The defense also says that 
the number of bags of illegal material allegedly discovered at the house is variously reported in official documents 
as seven and eleven.45 

Fernando Domínguez told Human Rights Watch/Americas during an April4 interview that State ofMexico 
Judicial Police and public security officers participated in the operation, and that these authorities punched, kicked, 
and beat the suspects after they had surrendered. Police then blindfolded the detainees, removed their shoes, and 
threw them on top of one another in a van. Ofelia Hemández reported to Human Rights Watch/Americas: 

The police entered the house, beating, grabbing and dragging us. The police started to shoot at my 
husband. Then the poli ce too k us to a vehicle, threw us on the floor, and sat on top of us. When we 
arrived at a house, they covered our eyes. When we got down from the vehicle they threw us on the 
ground again. There, they too k lots of photos, our fingerprints, and made us sign things that we 
didn 't know what they were. Then they too k us to another house, where they too k off our clothes 
and kept us blindfolded. They asked me ifl was a Zapatista and started to say that ifl didn't answer 
correctly they would put me in a well; then they started 

1

to increase the volume of the music and 
started to shout a lot. Someone told us to get up and that ifwe didn't we would die. From there, we 
were taken to the Reclusorio Norte, where we were treated well.46 

Domínguez said the police transported them to the Toluca Office ofthe Attomey General ofthe State of 
Mexico, where they were held for sorne two hours. After being questioned there, they were taken to a military 
establishment, which Domínguez believed to be Campo Militar No. 1 in Mexico City, where he said he was 
blindfolded, interrogated, and held without water or food while continuous loud music blasted. "Two people 
threatened me and put a plastic bag over m y head. They wanted meto give them the addresses of other people," . 
Domínguez told Human Rights Watch/Americas.47 

Gerardo López López, whom Human Rights Watch/Americas interviewed on April 11, said that bullets hit 
him in the arm and both legs when police burst into the darkened house after the group had surrendered. A police 
officer opened tire with a machine gun as he lay on the floor. Although López bled, police gave him no first aid. 
Rather, they beat him, dragged him toa waiting vehicle, and threw him on top ofthe other prisoners. One ofthe 
police agents reportedly stood on his injured knee intentionally. Upon arrival at the Toluca headquarters ofthe Office 
ofthe Attomey General ofthe State ofMexico, López was registered, questioned intensely, and then put into a cell. 
There, he received no medica! attention. At about 4:00a.m. on February 10, he was taken by ambulance toa military 
hospital where he was admitted and treated, although the guards cbntinued to insult him. During this period, he was 
held incommunicado for fifteen days.48 The military hospital informed the Miguel Agustín Pro Juárez Human Rights 

44 Letter from David Femández, executive director of the Centro para los Derechos Humanos "Miguel Agustín Pro 
Juárez," to Joel Solomon, January 28, 1996. 

45 Human Rights Watch/Americas interview with defense attomeys Pilar Noriega and José Lavanderos, Mexico City, 
August 28, 1995. 

46 Human Rights Watch/Americas interview, Reclusorio NortJ, April4, 1995. 

47 lbid. 

48 Centro para los Derechos Humanos "Miguel Agustín Pro Juárez," "Informe sobre la Defensa Jurídica de los Presuntos 
Zapatistas," January 1996, p. 7. 
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Center that, on February 17, they transferred López from the military hospital to the civilian 20 de Noviembre 
Hospital, but the civilian hospital denied that they had accepted him as a patient. Five days later, on February 17, the 
CNDH located López at the civilian Hospital Juárez de Mexico, where he was kept under poli ce guard. On March 
7, after undergoing surgery, he was transferred to the Reclusorio Preventivo Norte. 

On January 9, 1996, three representatives of the Office of the Attorney General visited the detainees to 
question them about their allegations of torture, in fulfillment of a judge' s order issued eight months earlier, in May 
1995. According to one oftheir defense attorneys, Pilar Noriega, the Office ofthe Attorney General did not notify 
the lawyers or the detainees ofthe impending interviews; her clients, who had been instructed by their 1awyers not 
to talk to government officials about their case without their lawyers present, refused to speak to the investigators, 
whom the detainees reported were aggressive in their attitude.49 A representative of the Office of the Attorney 
General to1d Noriega later that, after the detainees refused to give testimony, he said, in jest, "Do yo u want meto beat 
yo u into testifying?"50 On January 1 O, 1996, a representative of the Office of the Attorney General interviewed 
Gonzalo Sánchez Navarrete, a minor, who is being held separately, about his allegations of torture. Pilar Noriega, 
who happened to be present at the time the investigator arrived, assured Sánchez that it was legitimate for him to 
cooperate.51 

It was not surprising that these detainees, who have every reason to fear abuse from government 
representatives, were mistrustful of the investigators, especially as no effort was made to give them or their legal 
counselors prior notice of the investigation. Human Rights Watch/ Americas recommends that investigators re­
interview the detainees in the presence of their legal representatives and with advance notice. 

Government officials should immediately undertake to determine which officials were responsible for the 
abuses in this case, including: the beatings and other abuses sustained by the detainees; the stripping and blindfolding 
of the detainees; the incommunicado detention under military guard of Gerardo López López; and the irregularities 
in the defense, including the inability of the government to produce the legal defenders it originally assigned to the 
detainees. 

E) Seven Detainees from Yanga, Veracruz State: Ricardo Hernández López, Hilario Martínez Hernández, Martín 
Trujillo Barajas, Luis Sánchez Navarrete, Alvaro Castillo Granados, Rosa Hernández Hernández and Hermelinda 
García Zepahua. 

Police from Veracruz arrested these suspects at about 5:30p.m. on February 8, 1995, ata house in Yanga, 
Veracruz. The police, who had a warrant to detain three different men in connection with an unrelated crime, 
allegedly found unauthorized weapons and explosives in the house. On February 13, the sixth districtjudge in the 
Federal District, Lic. Fernando Andrés Ortiz Cruz, formally indicted the seven suspects on charges of criminal 
association, rebellion, and possession, storage, and transport of unauthorized weapons and explosives. 

Police used a search warrant alleging a secret weapons cache in the house for a totally different criminal 
investigation ata different address and involving other suspects wanted for a crime dating from August 1991. The 
CNDH investigated the use ofthe warrant, declaring it "reprehensible that [through] fictitious reports and criminal 
investigations unrelated to the case in hand, attempts should be made to deceive the judicial authorities in the hope 

49 Human Rights Watch/Americas telephone interview with Pilar Noriega, January 10, 1996. 

so lbid. 

SI Jbid. 
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of remedying a deficient investigation and obtaining the necessary orders by these means. "52 In addition, the 
testimony from María Gloria Benavides, recognized later by the sarne court as having been given under pressure, 
forms part ofthe accusation against Marín Trujillo Barajas, identified in Benavides's testimony as someone who 
assisted the EZLN with the fabrication of arms. 

Human Rights Watch/Arnericas interviewed the Yanga prisoners in the Reclusorio Preventivo Norte on April 
5. According to the detainees, police tightly handcuffed them, kicked and beat them, moved them into a large van 
or truck, and too k them to an airport. At least four of the detainees were tortured in the hours immediately after their 
detention. Alvaro Castillo told Human Rights Watch/Americas: 

Federal Judicial Police and maybe State Judicial Police participated in the arrest. 1 saw 
approximately twenty of them. They subdued us, handcuffed us, threw us on the floor, punched and 
kicked us, and beat us with boards and electrical cable. They too k me out of the house with Martín 
Trujillo, with my head covered with a shirt. They put us in the back seat of a car and took us toa 
dead-end street. They covered my mouth with a rag and put mineral water up my nose.53 

Later, at a location Castillo could not identify, police beat him, again forced mineral water up his nose, 
shocked him with an electric batan, and covered his head with a plastic bag, which almost asphyxiated him. Left 
alone in a room for severa! hours, Castillo could hear other people being tortured in an adjoining room; police told 
him that the sounds he heard were made by his friends. At the airport, an officer who was addressed as "colonel" put 
a pisto! to Castillo's throat, questioned him, and threatened to apply the "law ofthe escapee," by which he apparently 
meant that he would shoot Castillo as ifhe were trying to escape. Blindfolded, the prisoners were taken by plan e to 
a place they believed to be Campo Militar No. 1 in Mexico City, where they were held incommunicado. 

According to Castillo, an official beat him and threatened hirn, saying that he would be released if he signed 
a statement but would be dunked in a tank of water if he did not. The interrogation !asted about one half hour. 
Officials took him to a large room that had a typewriter in it, removed his blindfold, and made him face the wall. 
He signed papers that he could not read and was taken back to his ce!!. When in his cell, loud music made it 
impossible for him to sleep. The detainees have recanted their initial statements, which they allege were obtained 
under force. On February 10, they were transferred to the Reclusorio Norte. 

The prisoners denied receiving medica! examinations prior to their arrival in Campo Militar No. 1, where 
they were made to strip and were given a cursory examination. Luis Sánchez, a metalworker who was disabled in 
both hands dueto a soldering accident, told Human Rights Watch/Americas that he was given drops for an eye 
infection caused by his blindfold; Martín Trujillo, who had recently undergone abdominal surgery for cancer, was 
given two painkilling injections for pain from the partially healed surgical scar, on which he had been beaten. The 
detainees said they received their first thorough medica! examination when they arrived at the Reclusorio Norte. 

The information gathered by Human Rights Watch/Americas coincided with the detailed findings ofthe 
CNDH investigation in this case. The CNDH concluded that the detainees "were subject to physical and 
psychological torture designed to obtain information about the EZLN and to get them to sign self-incriminating 
declarations. "54 The CNDH al so found prima facie evidence thah our agents of the Office of the Attorney General 
failed to record the detainee's injuries when placed in their custody, and that a doctor from the Office ofthe Attorney 

52 CNDH, Recommendation 50/95, p. 91. 

53 Human Rights Watch/Americas interview, Apri15, 1995. 

54 CNDH, Recommendation 50/95, p. 84. 
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General may have falsified information in a medical certificate issued on February 9 by failing to record injuries. 55 

As this report went to press, the results ofthe State Office ofthe Attomey General's investigation into the coverup 
had not been reported by the state to the CNDH.56 

In ordering that the seven detainees stand trial in February, the judge made two arguments to dismiss their 
retracted confessions and allegations of torture. First, he held that there was no proof that the injuries recorded in 
medical examinations were sustained while the seven were in custody. Second, the judge stated in ordering in his 
indictment that, even supposing that torture had taken place, the confessions would not be nullified. He cited 
Mexican jurisprudence in reaching this conclusion: 

In no way would they [sic] be sufficient to come to a conclusion other than the one arrived a t. And 
if, as has been said, sorne of them showed signs of beatings on different parts of their body, this, 
given the accumulation of proof that exists against them, would not be at all relevant to destroying 
the causal link established between the conduct laid out and the criminal event of which they are 
accused. The retractions should not be given value on the basis of the alleged unconstitutional acts 
in which the apprehending agents probably engaged. Given the principie of procedural immediacy, 
their first depositions are the ones that should take precedence over their later ones, because they 
were given el o ser to the time of the facts and without sufficient time for thinking about them or 
electing what to say.57 

On October 16, a differentjudge threw out the charges ofterrorism, criminal association, and storing arms 
and explosives, arguing that the Office ofthe Attomey General had not proved its case.58 The Office ofthe Attomey 
General has appealed the decision rejecting these charges, while the defense has appealed the decision inasmuch as 
the other charges were left intact. The National Human Rights Commission, which recommended that the state 
attomey general investigate the torture it documented, had no information that such an investigation had even begun 
by the time this report went to press.59 According to the defense, neither the detainees nor their attomeys have been 
interviewed for such an investigation.60 

The govemment ofMexico should investigate the torture and beatings reported by the detainees, the denial 
of medical treatment, and the possibility that they were held at Campo Militar No. l. The govemment should al so 
investigate the CNDH's findings that agents of the Office of the Attomey General tried to report the medica! 
condition ofthe detainees. In addition, the govemment should draft legislation to ensure that testimony given under 
torture will be rejected. 

55 lbid. 

56 Presidencia de la Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos, "Situación que a la fecha guardan las recomendaciones 
50/95, 132/95 y 158/95," January 15, 1996, p. l. 

51 Auto de Formal Prisión (indictment), case No. 116/95, February 13, 1995. 

58 Centro para los Derechos Humanos "Miguel Agustín Pro Juárez," "Servicio Diario de Información de Derechos 
Humanos," October 18, 1995. 

59 Presidencia de la Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos, "Situación que a la fecha guardan ... ," p. l. 

60 Human Rights Watch/ Americas telephone interview with Pilar Noriega, January 1 O, 1996. 
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F) Francisco Alejandro García Santiago 
Police arrested Francisco Alejandro García Santiago on February 12 in Orizaba, Veracruz, but only after 

arbitrarily detaining his brother, mother, and father. At approximately 4:00p.m. on February 10, three men who 
refused to identify themselves detained his brother, Víctor Rugo García Santiago, on a street in Orizaba. Víctor 
Hugo's father, Alejandro García Monterrosas, tried to prevent the abduction, but the men beat him on the face and 
body; the CNDH Iater verified his injuries. Immediately afterward, Alejandro García and his wife, María de los 
Angeles Santiago de García, denounced the events to the Orizaba Office of the Attorney General of the S tate of 
Veracruz. 

Approximately four hours later on the same day, five plainclothes Judicial Police officers used force to enter 
the García home. They aggressively questioned Víctor Hugo's sister, Mónica García, about the whereabouts ofher 
other brother, Francisco Alejandro, telling her that he was in serious trouble because ofhis "links with the EZLN." 
While the agents were still in the house, Alejandro García and María de los Angeles Santiago returned home. After 
a discussion, they agreed to accompany the agents to see Víctor Hugo.61 Alejandro Garcia told the CNDH, however, 
that one ofthe police officers told him that ifthey did not agree to go with the police, they would be taken by force.62 

Before agreeing to accompany the police, however, they telephoned the Public Ministry, which assured them it was 
safe for them to go with the police. 

The police took the couple toa modern building in the nearby resort town Fortín de las Flores, which the 
family members later identified as the Public Security Department of the state government, where they were 
interrogated in separate rooms. According to their testimonies, they were forced to sit for hours. "We asked ifwe 
had been brought there to see our son, to answer questions, or ifwe had been detained, but they didn't answer us," 
María de los Angeles Santiago de García told Human Rights Watch/Americas. "We were made to sit for a long time, 
and they didn't Jet us stand or go to the bathroom." The police held the couple at the Fortín de las Flores building 
for two anda half days. They were not held strictly incommunicado, since they were allowed to phone their home, 
but they were clearly held under duress. 

On February 12, while the couple was still in police custody, the police prevailed on María Santiago to 
cooperate with them. She was told that, if she persuaded her son Francisco to surrender, she would be allowed to 
accompany the police agents to their home so that Francisco could see that she was all right. At about 10:00 p.m. 
she telephoned the house and implored Francisco to cooperate by letting the police in. She told him that she would 
accompany the poli ce. Nonetheless, at about 10:30 p.m., two poli ce agents forced their way into the house without 
either parent. According to the press, the CNDH, and García Santiago's defense, Francisco feared for his safety when 
he did not see his parents with the poli ce, so he tried to kili himself by getting bitten by a viper he kept in the house 
as a pet.63 The police officers arrested Francisco and were followed in a car by the family lawyer and two relatives 
who had witnessed the arrest. Police took him to the Escudero Sanatorium in Orizaba. At the hospital, he was 
interrogated and held under strict guard until February 15. On February 18, Francisco García was formally charged 
with sabotage for allegedly attempting to blow up an electricity tower. 

According to an investigation by the CNDH, the complaint filed by Alejandro García regarding the beating 
he was given by poli ce was never forwarded to the Office of the Attorney General, so a case against the poli ce was 
never opened. The CNDH accused the agent responsible at the Public Ministry of acting in "bad faith" and 
"presumably with the intention of not continuing the investigation of the criminal acts denounced by Mr. García 

61 Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos, Recommendation 132/95, reproduced in Gaceta, No. 63, October 1995, 
p. 95. 

62 lbid. 

63 "Intentó suicidarse un implicado con el EZLN al ser detenido en Orizaba," La Jornada, February 12, 1995. 
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Monterrosas."64 As ofthe time this report went to press, the governor of the state of Veracruz had failed to inform 
the CNDH of any actions taken to ensure that the beating case was opened or that the agent responsible for failing 
to open it in February was investigated, as per CNDH recommendation number 132/95, filed in October 1995.65 

In a March 3 letter to the nongovemmental Mexican Commission for the Defense and Promotion of Human 
Rights (Comisión Mexicana para la Defensa y Promoción de los Derechos Humanos), Lic. Humberto Fernández de 
Lara Ruiz of the Interna! Investigations Department (Contraloría Interna) of the Office of the Attorney General stated 
that García had confessed to the judge that he had been a member ofthe EZLN and that he participated in the blowing 
up oftwo electricity pylons in the state ofVeracruz and Puebla in January 1994. Fernández also denied that "the 
human rights of the García Santiago family had been violated at any moment." He said there were "no records of 
the detention ofVíctor Hugo García Santiago, Alejandro García Monterrosas or María de los Angeles Santiago de 
García." The attorney general ofMexico, Lic. Antonio Lozano, met representatives ofthe Mexican Commission on 
February 13 and told them that neither the Office ofthe Attorney General nor the Federal Judicial Police had been 
responsible for the arrests, and that the authorities responsible were Veracruz state security forces. 

The government ofMexico should undertake to investigate the violations in this case and punish according 
to the law those found responsible for: the detention ofVíctor Hugo García, Alejandro García, and María Santiago; 
the beating of Alejandro García; and the failure ofthe Attorney General's office to open a case on the beating. 
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l. Summary and Recommendations 

One year ago, less than two months after assuming the presidency. Ernesto Ponce de León ordered a crackdo" n 
on the Zapatista National Liberation Anny (Ejército Zapatista de Liberación Nacional. EZLN) As the Me:xican anm 
fought to regain territory in which the EZLN had operated since January 1994. federal and state police worked in tandcm 
lo arrest men and women accused of leading or supporting the Zapatistas. On February 8 and 9. officials detained more 
than twenty alleged EZLN members in three states and the Federal District. During the operation. thcy committed scnous 
violations of Mexican and intemational human rights standards. including torture. the e:xtraction of confessions by force . 
and the disregard of due-process guarantees. Most of the alleged Zapatistas rema in in jail. charged '' ith e rimes su eh as 
rebellion and sedition. 

In a televised address from the presidential palace on February 9, 1995, President Zedillo infonned Me:xico that 
he had ordered the otTensive to assist the Office ofthe Attomey General (Procuraduría General de la República. PGR ) 
in carrying out arrest warrants against five alleged EZLN commanders, whose narnes he read on the air. including that 
of the EZLN's spokesman known as Subcommander Marcos. Explaining the motive for the crackdown. the president 
announced that his govenunent had identified severa! EZLN leaders, discovered safehouses and weapons. and leamed of 
guerrilla plans to commit acts ofviolcncc. Zcdillo also spoke ofthe govcmment's detennination "not to remain indifTcrent 
lo violations ofthe Constitution. which in this case clearly imply a threat against the people of Me:xico and public ordcr " 
Within five days of launching the February offensi,·e. the am1y had succeeded in retaking EZLN arcns . 

Since the beginning of the anned conflict between the Me:xican Anny and the EZLN. Humnn R1ght s 
Watch/Americas has documented violations ofhuman rights nnd humnnitnrinn ln\v committed by both s1dcs : Hum:1n 
Rights Watch/Americas sent two fact-finding missions Lo Mcxico to investigate the February 1995 detentions. BascJ 011 
analyses ofllial documents and interviews with eighteen ofthe detainees. Human Rights Watch/Americns hns concludcd 
that during and after the crackdown. the very officials responsible for protecting Mexican citizens committcd scnous 
violations of Mexican law and intemational human rights nonns regnrding aue process nnd the trentment of dctaincc~ 
Human Rights Watch/Americas did not attempt to asccrtain the guilt or innoccnce ofthe accused. but rather thc lcgalit' 
of the processes u sed to detain. in\'estigate. and prosecute them. as well as the treatment they recei,·ed in dctcnt1on 

President Zedillo hinlSclfhas publicly recognized the problems of human rights violntions and impunity that C'.J SI 

in Mexico. and constitutional and legal refom1s designcd to protect human rights ha\'e been enacted in rccen t ycars. Thc 
cases documented in this report. however. make a powerful argumcnt for the govemment of Mexico to undcrtal--c <1 
conccrted effort to convert fonnal human rights snfeguards and official human rights policy statements into real human 
rights protections and the punishment of human rights violntors . E:xisting Mexican safeguards designed to clinunatc 
torture and forced confessions can only be cffecti\'e if politicnlleaders. including Pres ident Zedillo. issue clcar dircctt\ es 
to their subcrdinates that thcse laws must be followcd and that any breach will be fully and immediately prosccutcd Thc 
Office of the Attomey General must investigate all allcgations of torture and refuse to admit testimony pro\ idcd undcr 
torture. As long as police. prosecutors. and judgcs see prohibitions of torture as rhetorical commitmcnts b' thc 
govemment state agents will continue to vtew torture nnd forced confcssions as lcgitimate methods of conducting thc1r 
work. 

Among its findings , Human Rights Watch/Americas documcnted the following : 

'"Presiden! Ernesto Zedillo's Address on the Chwpns Situntion ... Me:-.:ico Citv. Fehrunry 9. 1995. !r:msln!JI>Il -:Jr-:ui :JIL'd In 
the Embassy ofMexico in Washmgton. D.C. 

2 See. for example: 1-!wnan Rights Watch/ Americns . . \!exico: The ¡\ 'e w Year 's Rehcllion: Vio lations o( Hllllltlll Righr.' ,u,tl 

Humanitarian Law During the Anned Revolt 111 Chiupus . Vol VI. No. 3. March l . 1 1) 1)4 : Human Rights Wntch/i\menc : J ~ :11ld 
Physicians for Human Rights. WaitillgjnrJustice i11 C'Jiia¡>t~.< l D<!ct!mha 1 1)04) ~ :md Human Rights Watch/ Ain<!ncas . . \le \·" ·" lm n 

0/ficer He/J "Responsihle " j or Chiapas .Hassacre : Accused Fo und Dead at Dc(ense ¡\ linistry. Vol. 7 . No 7 . ./une 1 •)•):' 
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• F our of se ven dctainees arrcsted in Yanga. Yeracruz. on February X. 1 <)C)5 . and la ter m ter\ ie'' .:d by H um <ltl 
Rights Watch/ Americas, reported being subjected to gross physical and psychological torture. 111cluding nc<~r 
dro\\-T\ing and elcctric shocks. They now face charges based. in part, on coerced confessions. The go,·cmmcnt nl 
National Human Rights Cornmission (Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos. CNDH) found thntthe OlTicc 
of the Attomey Generaltried to cover up the abuses. Govemment prosecutors have failed lo ill\ cs tign tc thc 
allegations of torture. 

• Police severely bcat the detainces from Cacalomacán. S tate of Mexico. on February 9: onc reportcd to Hunwn 
Rights Watch/Americas that officials tortured him by placing a plastic bng over his head. Whilc in detention. 
officials blindfolded thc dctainees. deprived onc with gw1shot wounds of medica! care for forty-ei ght hours. allll 
forced them to sign confessions incriminating themselves. Military officials held one of the dctninccs 
incommunicado for fifteen days, in violation of Mexican law. 

11 Authorities subjected detainees to intimidating and harassing treatment. including blindfolding them and forc111g 
them to listen to incessant noise in the fom1 of radio music played at full volume. which pre\'entcd them rr0111 
sleeping or resting. 

• The procedures used by police to detain and transport suspects in these cases included blntantly dlcg<li 
kidnaping-style practices, although in some cases officials e\·idcntly made efforts to maintain legal standards . <ll 
Ieast for the sake of appearances . In the case of Mnría Gloria Benavides. for instance. police obtaincd a scarch 
warrant for her house nftcr a man claimed that someone had robbed him outside Sena vides · s home imd that !u -. 
assailant had entered her house. The man nc,·cr nppcarcd in court to rntify his complaint. In thc case ol' th,· 
detainees in Yanga, police searched the house using a \\'arrant obtained for a completely different cnsc. Ycracn t; 
police effectivcly abductcd Víctor Hugo García Santiago and his parents. Alejandro García and Mari a de los 
Angeles Santiago. and held them for t\vo anda half days in 'premises belonging to the state go\'emment. in 1mkr 
to bring pressure on their other son, Francisco. to tum himsclf in. 

• In the Y anga, Cacalomacán. and Benavides cases. detainees may ha ve been held and interrogatcd undcr anm 
custody. Only the Oflice ofthe Attomey Gencrnl is allowed under Mexican law to hold in detention and qucstt tln 
suspects. 

¡. 

• 

• 

• ' 

Rather than cnsure immediate and impartía! inves tigations of allcgntions of torture. govcmment prosccutnt' 
continue to press charges based on tes timony obtaincd through torture or under duress or gi,·en by dctatncl> 
without adequate legal defense. In the Yanga case. a judge ruled that evidence of torture. e\' en i f prO\ en . " IHtld 
not invalidate the self-incriminating statements used as a basis for prosecution. 

Govemment and judicial authorities ha ve fatled to takc propcr steps to investigate the abuses. idcntil~· thc st::Jll.: 
agents responsible. and enforce existing la\\'s dcsigned to protcct citizens from abuses. such as the Federal La" 
to Prevent and Pwlish Torture. The law requires that allcgations of torture be investigated. but even given C OH 
documentation oftorture in the Yanga case. no such investigation has been undertaken. In the Cacalomac<in casL· . 
representatives ofthe Oflice ofthe Attomey General sought to interview the detainees regarding their allegattons 
of torture. but, because the officials reportedly did not give prior notice to them or their lnwyers. thc dct ¡unc..:s 
did not trust the investigators enough to grant thc interviews. 

Members of the legal team defending the alleged Zapatistas. which is coordinated by the Miguel Agustín Pro 
Juárez Human Ri ghts Center (Centro para los Derechos Humanos "Miguel Agustín Pro Juárez ... Prodh l. ' ha'..: 
received death threats. 

J The defense team is made up of Enrique Flota. Pilnr Noriega. Jn~t! Ln\'nndems. Oif!na Ochoa. anJ Victllr Hren..:,; 
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• Charges have been dropped against two of the dctainees. a pos iti,·e step taken by the courts. " ·hich rc!'uscd 1" 
continue lhe prosecutions based on the qucs tionnble or il lcgally obtained C\'idcnce prcsented by prosccutors. In 
one oflhese cases. that of María Gloria Benavides. the judge who threw out the case ruled that thc gon;rnmcnt 
had illegally searched her home nnd. thercforc. could not use lthe evidcnce it had gathered there against hcr. Th..: 
judge also ruled that her own statemcnts could not be uscd agninst her becnuse they had bcen c:-.: tractcd h' 
authorities who fnilcd to rcspect her constitutional rights. 

Recommendations 
Hwnan Rights Watch/ Americas urges Presiden! Ernesto Zedillo to order the adoption of concrete and ellcctl\ e 

~ures to eradicate lhe practices oftorture and forced confessions. dnd to initiate immedintely nn investigation 111to thc 
abuses committed during the detentions docurnented in this report . 

Mexican legislation expressly prohibits and penalizes lhe use 0ftorture and renders invalid legal statements madc 
under torture. Nonelheless. lhese practices persist, pointing to lhe need or Mexico to adopt further legislation to cnd thesc 
abuses and adopt mensures to ensure that officials comply with lhese laws and punish those who violate thcm. F urthcr 
legislation should focus on eliminating preccdents that give greatcr wc1 ght to the first official statement a dctaince makc ~ 
- which is more frequently given under duress -- than to statemcnts given befare judges. Such refonns should al so scck 
lo establish greater independence between police im·cstigations. drosccutors' development of chargcs. and judg..:< 
decisions to indict suspects. Allegations of torture should be quic ly and thoroughly investigated in a " ;l\ th at :,: 1' e·, 
victims confidence in the integrity of the investigation 

No legislation, no matter how well crafted or detailed. w 11 end torture or the use of forced conl'css10ns 11 
govemment officials do not prosecute lhose agents who engage in ~hesf practices. In all cases documented in thi s repon. 
we urge lhat a detailed investigation by thc Office of the Attomey Genernl be undertnken to determine who is n;sponsihlc 
~or the human rights violntions committed by federal nnd state ofli~ ials . Fu.rther. th~ results of the attomcy gcncr:JI . ~ 
mvest1gatwn should be made pubhc and should be followed by the t1mely prosecut1on of state agcnts 11nphcatcd 111 
wrongdoing. The govemment of Mexico should begin a systemn ~ic review of allegations of torture or othcr cruel. 
inhuman, or degrading treatmcnt. beginning with the detailed inforrmtion on the issue gathered nnd anal\'1ed b' thc 
National Human Rights Conunission O\'er the last five years . Thos implicated in committing these abuses slwul d he· 
prosecuted and punished nccording to thc lnw. 

Regarding lhe detainecs. information obtnined through torture ¡¡nd other illcgnl prnctices should be d1srcgarckd 
by prosecutors and judges Where such information fom1s the 1nlv bnsis for indictments. the nccused shou ld hL· 
im~ediate ly released without charges. Human Rights Watch/Amer¡cas recognizcs and appreciatcs thnt 111 thc c¡¡ :-;c t l! 

Mana Glona Benav1des. nJudge acqlll ttcd her in No,·cmbcr on the gr ·unds that the 111format1on the st<J tc h¡¡d ¡¡g¡¡1 nst hc·r 
had been obtained illegally. 

The Me:xican govemment should immcdintely cense using mauthorizcd detention centers. such ¡¡s the CampP 
Military No. 1 (Military Carnp No. 1 ). The govemment of Mexico m u t mnke n concerted effort to ensure that. cons1stcnt 
wilh international guidelines. detainees are registered at their place of d1 tention. reports of fnlse or incomplete rcgistratlllll 
~ immediately invesrigated., and nulhorities found responsible for vio ntions are prosecuted. The goYemment of Mc:-.:1co 
should design and implement a program to modemize the rcgistrnti n process. so thnt the names of detninees und thc11 
places of detention can immedintely ¡¡nd nccur<Jtely be obtained throughout the country by dcfensc attomc' ~ ;111d 

govemment officials. 

In 1995. as in previous years . the Mexican govemment jected n request from the United Na tlons spcc1;1l 
rnpporteur on torture. Nigel S Rodlcy. to visit Mcxico The Mexican go,·emment should immedintely and unconditi ona lh 
pcnnit lhe special rnpporteur to visit Mex.ico. The spcci¡¡l r<lpportcnr shlould continue to pressure thc Mc:-.:ican gO\ crn1ncn1 
to allow him into the countrv. 
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The United S tates must make clear and public stJtcmcnts dcnounci ng thc scrious humJn nghts 1 IOI<llllllt ' 
<;ommitted during the February 1995 offensivc. The si lence of the United S tates on human rights 1ssucs 111 ¡\'h:'\lu l. 

combined with its support for the Zedillo go,·cmment and economic integration, send the unamb1 gL1ous messagc that 
human rights abuses in Mexico are not of concem to the Unitcd States . Further, the United States and Mexico are 
currently reviewing the possibili ty of developing a training and exchange program for Mexican police. j udgcs. ami 
prosecutors. U. S. fmancial assistance for Mexican poli ce and the administration of justice shouid be used by thc Unitcd 
States as part of a broader strategy to promote hwnan rights refom1s in Mexico: the U. S. shouid include clear human nghts 
goals in the exchange and training program. !f Mexican officials fail to make demonstrable progress into 1m·es ti gJt111g 
cases of abuse by police and prosecutors. such as the violations committcd during the Febn1a~· 1905 crackdo11 n. th..: 
United States should consider withdrawing such assistance. 

The lnter-American Commission on Human Rights , which has been invited by Mexico to conduct n fact-finding 
mission, should meet \vith a range of nongovemmental hwnan rights activists throughout the count~· and publish J 
detailed report on its fmdings. Planncd for sometime in 1996, this will be the commission 's first visit to Mexico: Humlln 
Rights Watch/Americas recognizes the importance ofMexico's invitation to the commission and urges that the missinn 
proceed as quickly as is feasible. 

11. Mexican and lnternational Standards Related to Torture 

Despite Mexican and intemationallaw designcd to climinJle Jnd ptmish torture. torture and impun1t~ for tortur..:r' 
remain serious problems in Mexico. According to thc Nntional Human Rights Commission (CN DH ). 103 or 'J5~ 
recommendations that it issued between 1990 and August 1995 documcnted the use of torture . ~ The CNDH addrcsscd 
the rnajority of its torture-related recornmendations to thc Office of the Attomcy General , whose employccs. pJrticuiJrh 
the Federal Judicial Police. it found to ha ve been rcsponsiblc for the ,·iolations. 5 Further. des pite the high numbcr lli' 
torture cases in Mexico in rccent ycars and the dctail containcd in CNDH documcntJtion. by August 1995 thc CNDH had 
docwnented only four instances in ''hich a court had lound an agent of thc govemment guilty of torture. Thc go,·ernnlcnt 
ofMexico has refused to allow the United Nlltions spccilll rapporteur on torture. Nigel S. Rodley. to visit thc coun tn 

Hwnan Rights Watch/Americas is awarc of gon:mmcntalmcasurcs to combat torture in Mexico. includ111 ~ 

constitutional reforms in 1993 that prohibited thc use as cvidence of statcmcnts to the police made by dctJinccs. Onh 
statements made before agents of the Office of the Attomey General ora judge are now va lid. !n lldd1tion. ll 1 e;<; 1 1<1 '' . 
the Federal Law to Prevent and Punish Torture. proh ibi ts and penal izes the use of torture. F urther. the dctJ mcc · s 1 <111' ..:1 
ora '' person of confidence .. must be present during the period that detainees give oftici al statements or confcssl (lll' 11 ' 

• Lic. Jorge Madrazo ... Logros dt: la CNDH t:nla Lucha contra la T1lr11u·a."· spt:t:ch dt:!i1·ert:d nn Augusl 11 l . 1 ')' J) rcp1 "'''¡"·,! 
in Comtsión Nacional de Derechos Humanos (CNDH) . ( iaceru . #() l. Augu~t 1 ')')5. p. 12. 

1 The Oftice of the Attomey General (Procuraduría General de la Repúhlica) is the entity responsihle fm th<.: lll\'t:SIIf!all"ll 
of crimes, the custody of suspects heing investigat<:!d. the provisinn of puhlic dd-.:nders, the solicitation to J Udg<:!~ that susp<:ch he· 

indicte:d, and the prosecution of criminal ~u.~L~ Witlun tl1e < )ftice nf the Attomt:y Cit:nt:ra l, the Puhlic MimstrY ( Mi nistt'rll 1 !'nhlic•' 1 

is the branch responsible for taking the testimony of suspects. de\'doping chargt::s. and proseculing cases. Abn \\'ilhlll th<: < l! .li..:c· · •1 
the Attomey General. Judicial Police work to investi gate crimcs. and specia li~t s. such as forensic experts. wnrk to ¡wth..:r t!\ llkltl' L' 
11lere is a ti::deral Office ofthe Attomey C~1eral that works on a nationallevd , and each state and the Federal Districl ha1c th..:n "'' 11 
such offices that works on criml:!s within the state nr Federal Di strict jurisdictiun. Once the Office of the Anom<:\' ( il:!ncral h,,, 
estahl ished that a crime has taken plact:: and has 1dentitied tht! prohahle gutl tv pa11v. an agent of the oftice will requ<.:~llhat <1 )lid~,· 

open a criminal case ag::unst the suspec t. Agenls nf the 011ice of thc Allnmt::v General take initial testmwn\·. or dt::clar<lll"il ' 
(declaraciones ), from detainees prior totht:i r indictmt::nl m relt:ns<.: without charges. Latl:!r. dt::tainees will ha1·e tht:: clwncc ¡., 11\.tk,· 
addi tional statements hefore a judge, who will rul<:! un wht:ther or not to indict !he suspect. 
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agents ofthe Office ofthe Altomey General. /\ TI1ese changes were nwde e:-.:prcssh· Lo eliminate abuses conm11tted b' pul te..: 
and those cornmittcd by govcrnment officials who might ha\·e fe lt n ore free Lo force confessions or beat suspects 11 l11 ' 
did not ha ve legal representation or someone of their confidence who would witness any official statements made · 

· 1 · · e · b . d 1 1 The Federal Law to Prevent and Pumsh Torture holds. ··No confesston or mromwtton o tame t 1roug 1 torture 
can be used as evidence. ·-s While this law covers only federal employabs. twenty-nine of Mexico ·s thirty-one stntcs abn 
have specific laws to eliminate and punish torture or penal codes thlat do so. according to the CNDH.'' In a promion 
designed to eliminate torture, the Mcxican Constitution al so invalidatds confessions obtained from detainees without the 
presence of a legal defender or ' 'person of confidence. ··tn Intemation llaw also expressly forbids torture and the usl: ol' 
confess.ions obtained through torture, as established in thc Conventi~1 n Against Torture and Other Cruel.

1 

/nhum~n and 
Degradmg Trcatment or Pumshment and the Inter-Amcncan Conve tton to Prcvent and Pumsh Torture. The lormer 
holds that "Each S tate Party shall take effective legislative, administr> ti ve, judicial or other mensures to prcn:nt acts nr 
torture in any territory Wlder its jurisdiction" and to makc sure that tort re is considered a criminal act under its domes t1 c 
legislation.12 Further. it establishes, "Each State Party shall ensure th t any statement which is established to have becn 
made as a result oftorture shall not be invokcd as evidcnce in any proc edings, exccpt against a person accused of torture 
as evidence that the statement was made." The Intemational Covcnant , n Civil and Political Rights also prohihits torture 
and forced confessions.1 

J 

The Mexican govemment's steps to ensure thatthe rights of dc~ainees are respected ha ve clcarly bccn inadeq u¡fl..: . 
as the abuses documented in this report attesl. Nonethelcss. leading human ri ghts activists working fo r gO\ ernn1enLll 

6 Constitutional rdonns in 1993 t!stahlishtX! tht! ··p..:rson ofcuntiú..:ncc · who dot!s nnt havt! lo ht! a 1:1\\ver Th..: r..:li •n t l ~ :.::11' 
delainees the righl lo ha ve somt!Oilt! tht!)' lll.lsl prt!st!nt wh..:n thcy gi ,·t!' otli ·in l statt!mcn ts to agents of lht! < ll1i..:..: .,¡· 1h1: .'\111 •111• ·'-

Gent!r:. l. . . . 1 . . . 

1 7 One prohkm v.1th tht.'St! rdotm' has ht!en thnt pressun: ag:unst J..:~ , mct!s can tnke place! hdort! ht! or sht! nwk..:s an t> ll1c: 1:11 
declaralion lo the agent of tht! Puhlic Ministry, nnú, th..:rclort!. k liH·t! a ·· person of coniÍÚt!nct!·· or lawyt:r is pr..:sent The au 1l 11 •nt¡ ,·, 
respon.siblo;: for investigating crimt!s. taking lt!stimonv from Jt:~ ni n c:..: s . hold in ' Jeta inees in custoJv. nnd dt!tenntn tn¡! 11 h..: lhc-r 1 •1 ll• •1 
lo seek proseculion are! coordinalt!d by the same go\·t!mmcnt cntt ry. thc 0 1r ce of the Attomt!y Gt!nt!ra l. A ú..:talll..:..: 11 IHl has bc-c·tl 
intimidated and knows that , once tht! dt!claration is g.i ven. sh..: or h..: will on e agnin he nlnne in the custoJ v 11f th..: s;un..: <>11i..:t ; il ~ ¡., 

whom the declaration was given, may well proviúe a tal se statemcnt. t.: \·o.:n witl n la\\\'Cr or "pcrson of con1iúo;:ncc: .. prescnt ;Jt thL· IJJn,· 
the statemenl is taken. Fur1ha. lht!re is no guarantee th nt n "pt!rson nf con! id lCt! .. will h..: ah lo;: to dctect or pn >to.:ct a¡!a lllst \Wialll •11 , 
ofthe rights of detain!XS. TIUs prohlen1 is complicattX! hy tht! fnct thnt. nccnrdit g to Me:-;ican juri spntdcnco;:, tht! tirst deci:J ra!Hln J\l ;Jdv 
lo officials has more judicial weighl !han I:Jtcr declarations. sn o;:ven if n suspt!cl n:cnnts anú tdls the juúge the she ~>r he 11 ; ¡ ~ l'r<.:"' ll <'• 1 

into signing a statement. the initi al statemc: nt can he accept..:ú as prn<>f agn u .·;t rh. ~ su~p'~ ': ! 

8 Ley Fedo;:ral para Pro;:venir y Sancionar In T<>rtur;J . Antck X 

9 Madrazo. "Logros úc la CND!-1 c:n la Lucha cllnt rn In T<> t1urn. 

10 "Confessions givt!n hefor..: anv nuthoritv oth ..: r than une nf th..: uhlic Mint stry or a juúge. <>r hetúre thL·m "tl h• ••11 11J ,· 
presence of his or her deft!nÚt!r . willl a~.: k all vn lltt! as t.::v iú..:nct! ... C<>nstttutit uf Me:-.: icu. A11ick 20(2). 

11 The Intcr-American Convt!ntion to Prewnt nnú Punish Tortun: et tt!reJ intn tilrce on Ft!hruarv 2X . 1 ')X7 . M..:\ te< • 1 :JIJiiL·d 
il on June 22, 1987. 

12 Convention agairu,'t Tot1ure and Other Cmd , Inhuman. or Degrading Treatment or Punisluno;:nt. Art tcb 21 1) and -l 1 IJ, · 
Convenlion enlered into force on Junt! 26. 19X7 . Me:-.:ico rn titieú tht! Conv ntinn un Jnnuary 23. 1 'JX6 

13 "No statement that is verifiro as having ho::r1 nhtnint!d through toJttL shnll ht! ndmi s~ihle as eviJenc.: 111 n le¡!a l pn •c..:..:dJJl ¡.: 
. . 1 

except m a legal actton taken against a person or persons accuseJ of having eliciteú through acts of tortur.:. nnd onl\· ns ..: \·tdencc· 1h;1t 
the accused obtained ~uch statement by such means ... [nter- Am.:ricnn Cmwt!t1ti nn to Prt:vent and Punish Tot1urt!. Art t..:k 111 .. 111 lhc· 
delermination of any criminal charge agn inst him . ..:v.: r.·, >nt: shall he entitle . .. not to ht! compellt!d tn tt!stt t\· aga tnsl huns..:lt' 1 •r !1 • 
confess guilt." lnlemational Covenanl on Civil and Politicnl Ri ghts. Article 14(ll )( g) . At1icle 7 nfthe Covenant pn•hthil s l11r!1Jrc· TIJ~ · 
Covenant entcred into force on March 23 , 1976. Mo;::-.:ico acceded to it on N1arch D. 1 ')X l. 
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institutions that ha ve tracked cases oftorture ha\·e identilicd positi,·e. if in su rticient. results from these mensures Dr Lu1 ' 
de la B<ll'T'eda Solórzano, the president of the govemmental Human Rights Commission of the F cderal Distnct. ar;u~s 111 
a recent book, La lid contra la tortura (The Fight Against Torture) , that these initiatives ha ve indeed cnnstitutcd posi t1 1 L' 

steps toward the eradication of torture, but that torture is still a problem. 1 ~ Similarly. in a speech in August 1 <)<)5 . L1c 
Jorge Madrazo, the presiden! ofthe govemmental National Hwnan Rights Commission, recognized importan! ga111s m:1de 
in fighting torture in Mexico, but called attention to the continuing use of torture by state agents who enjoy impunit~ lor 
their crimcs. Lic. Madrazo pointed out that, since 1990. the number of new torture cases documentcd by thc CNDH h:1d 
dropped, but emphasized that "a lot remains to be done to sensitize govemment officials to the importancc of cnsurin::; 
that torture is punished severely and in accordance with the law."15 

Tile absence high-level political will to end impunity for the govemment agents who torture and the judicia~ · s 
continuing refusal to push prosecutors to elimina te torture constitute serious irnpediments to torture· s cradication. F urthcr. 
as long as judges continue to cite Mexican jurisprudence that establishes the "principie of procedural immediacy ... 11 hich 
holds that a detainee 's first statement to authorities has greater value than la ter declarations, detainees who gi' e thcir r1rst 
statements under duress will never be able to retrae! the self-incriminating statements tortured out of them. Establ ished 
through Me.xican jurisprudence, the "principie of procedural immcdiacy" could be changed through legisi:Jtion 

111. Patterns of Abuse During the February 1995 Crackdown 

Dur,ing the 1995 crackdO\m. the Mexican govemment fcll into sc\'cral pattems of abuse. including thc use ol· 
forced confessions: the attcmpt to disguise arbitral)· action as legal procedure: thc abuse of the system of public defender~ 

and representatives kno\\n as the "person of contidence:' ' thc blindfolding of detninees: the seemingly intcntional l"illiur,· 
of govenunent officials to process complaints of physical abuse or the tnking of actions to cover up such abuses: :1nd th~ 
ill-treatment of detainees, including torture. Intimidation and physiéal and psychologica! attacks against the dctainccs 11 ere 
common. Police blindfolded the detainces in the Bcnnvides. Y anga. and Cacalomacán cases. tortured dctainccs in Y ;¡n s<L 
and beat the Cacalomacán prisoners and thc father of detaince Francisco Garcia . 

In violation of Mexicnn and intemational law. authoritics al so forced confessions from dctainccs . In thc ca se~ 
ofMaría Gloria Benavides. the seven Yanga dctainccs. and the eight Cacalomacán dctainecs. go,·emment of!ic1als fnrc..:d 
self-incriminating confessions In the case of Javier Elorriaga. a state-:1ppointcd lawyer urged him to sign a stntcmcnt th ;il 
he did not tm ... ·e time to re-reaci then officials altercd the final ,·crsion of the stntcment The Intcmationnl Co' cnnnt on t · ~ , 11 
and Política] Rights holds that no one be "compelled lo tcslify againsl himsclf orto confess guilt."1

n whilc thc Amcnc111 
Conventioo guarantees the right of the accused '"not lo be compelled lo be a witness against himself. .. ,- In additinn . th,· 
American Convention estabiishes, -·A confession of guilt by the accused shall be val id only if it is madc \\lthout cncrn ''1 
of any kind."1

M Mexico 's Constitution and Law lo Prercnt and Punish Torture echo this standard.1" 

In the Benavides, Elorriaga. and Yanga cases. police and proseculors violaled due-process guarantecs. In thcsc: 
cases, witnesses who testified against the alleged Zapatistas or the legal dcfcndcrs assigned to the dctainees could not he 
located by officials after they gave their initinl statements or pro\'idcd their ' 'legal ser.·ice." raising lhe troubling poss1hli lt' 

"Luis de la Barreda Solórzano. La lid contra la tortura (Mcxico City: Cal y Arena, 1995) 

1 ~ Madraza, "Logros de la CNDH en la Lucha contra la Tortura." 

16 lntemational Covenant on Civil and Political Rig.hts, A.I1icle 14(3 )(g.) . 

17 American Convention on Human Rights. A11iclc R(2)(g) . The Conventiun entered into force on .luh· 1 X. 1 '>7l--i ~k\1 < • · 
acceded to the Convention on March 24. 19R l . 

11 fhid . Article 8(3). 

•• Constitution ofMexico. Artick 20(2) nnJ Lev Federal para Prc:vcnir ,. Sancionar la Tortura. /\111ck X 
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that govemment officials falsified evidence and dcpri\cci dct :li necs fthcir nght toan adcquatc dclcnsc : In Jdd1t1 n11 
the defense could not cross-ex:.unine thcse \\itJi.::sses and dcfcndcrs. A cst '' arrants ''ere faulty or mi SS IIlg 1n thcs..: Gbc~ 

Police did not even make a prel!·nse of following standard legnl procedurc in thc Gnrcin case. 1n ''hich thc' ilk~:Jih 

detained the suspect 's brother, mother. and fnthcr to force him to tu 1 himsclf in . 

Authorities nlso violated lnws by holding dctainccs in una thorizcd dctcntion ccntcrs. mcommun1cado. or 111 
unidentified locations. In the Bcna\·idcs. Yangn, and Cacnlomncán ca cs. thc dctnmccs rcportcd bc111g hcld 1n ,,.h:1t thc1 
belicved to be a militarv bnsc. in violation of Mcxican law that pro,·i es for thc dctention of suspccts 1n facilities und..:r 
the control of the Office of thc Attomcv Gcncrnl. In thc CacaiÓmadn cnsc. mili,tary officials hdd onc suspcc1 
incommunicado for fiftecn dnys , in ,·iolation of Mcxicnn lnw thnt cst blishcs that suspects be scen by a _¡udge "ithin -IX 
hours oftheir arrest. lntemational standards establish thnt the gove~cnt must clearly rcgister all dctninccs. Accordin~ 
to the United Nations' Standard Mínimum Rules for thc Treatmenl of Prisoners, "In every place whcre persons are 
imprisoned there shall be kept a bound registration book [including] thc rcnsons for his commitment and the nuthont1 
therefor; and the day and hour of his admission nnd relense. --~ 1 In the nnga cnse. the lack of proper registrntion has bl 
toa situation in which it hns been impossiblc to idcntify which polic sen· ices were rcsponsible for the torture inllicted 
on the detainees. 

Detainees in need ofmcdical nttcntion should ha,·c rccci\ cd t. In thc Cacalomacán and YangJ cJses. ho\\el ..:r 
detainees reported thnt they did not reccive mcdicJI Jttcntion for dJ~s In thc GJrcía cnse. u go,·cmmcnt oflic1JI <1ppc:1r ~ 
to have intentionally failed to process complaints of phys1cal abuse fi lcd by Garcin · s fathcr. In the Y :1ng:1 c:1~e . :lllt hnntlc ' 
appear to have intentionally mis-recorded infonmtion about thc dcta· necs · medica! conditions . :: 

As of the time this report went to prcss. go,·cmrncnt officials hnd bcgun to investigate only one of thc cases ni· 
alleged torture, in Cacalomacán. S tute of Mexico. and thcy did not d so in a mnnncr that gave the detainccs sunicien t 
confidence in the process so asto cooperatc with thc imcstigntion .. Th othcr cJscs rcmain uninvestigated. adding tu thc 
long legacy of irnpunity for Mcxican officials who 'ioi:Hc human righi!S. and throwmg into doubtthc conm11tmcnt ni' 1 he 
Zedilla administration to confront and cnd human nghts violations cJ mmittcd by thc agcnts of his go,·emmcnt 

20 According to lhe Mex1can l'nn~lllllllllll. a Jt:i:Jincc h:Js lile righl loan ":¡Jcquate Jdi::n~c .. prn1·1ded h1 h1111 "' hL'I ,c·l l ·' 
"person of confidence'" who does nol necessarilv ha1·c lo he a l::~wycr . a 1, wycr of h1 s nr ha mm choosmg. 11r :1 ~ t : 11e-a¡ 1 p • •11 1ll\l 
attomey. [Constitution of Mex1cn. AI11Cit! 20('))] Tht! 1\m~ric::~n Clt!ll'enli 1n 11n Hunwn Rights and th t! lnl~m :llll lll : 11 t 'II IL'I1 :11 1l " 11 
Civil and Political Right<; also estnhltsh thc ng.hl oflhe accuscd lo he! ass1s1cJ h · legal Cllunsel nfhis nr her 111111 ch"11'111t! . "~' 111 ,Jc·¡'l·l~o l 

him or herself. [Amencan Com·en11on nn Human R1g.hts . /\111d.: Xt~)(d) at J lnll.:mal1onal Cnvenant on t'11 Ji :md l'llhli<.::JII\1:-:h t, 
Article 14(3)(d).] Mt!xíco's Conslllulion also reqlllre~ th al dct~nJalllS ht: ahk 11 cn>-<-<-c,ammc lhcu· accus.:rs 111 Ctll ll ·t ll'lllbll!llll · '" 
ofMexico, Article 20(4 ).] Thís requ1rcmt!nl 1s al so t(nmJ 1n 1nlcnwl11 111al úm lnnl standards. 1ncludmg lhe /\menean ( ··•111 c11i1• •11 • •11 
Human Rights, which guaranlecs "tllt! n ¡rhL~ nf tl1e Jcknsc 111 c:xammc 11 11ness s presc:nl 1n thc: cnun, .. anJ tht: lntc:mall••n:tl l . 111 ,.11 :1111 
on Civil and Political Rights. [ /\mencanl'onl'l-11llonllll !-!tunan R1ghts. /\111d.: ( 2 )1) ami lntcmal!llnal l' tl l·cnanl 11n ( · 1' ti .111d 1 •, •lt 11..- .d 
Rights, Article 14(3)(<:!).] 

21 Standard Mínimum Rules for the T n:atmenl of Prisoners. A111ck 7 1\ lthllu g.h not a hinJing agrecmcnl. thc St :1t 1d: 11 •1 
Mínimum Rules for the Treatment ofPtisoners is recogn1zeJ Js olli::nng aulh nlall\·e g.liiJanee as lo hmJing cusl• 1111 :11'1 111lélll:il1 1111.d 
law and treaty standards on tht! trealmc:nt of pnsoncrs 

22 Mexícan law requires thal detainees m neeJ nf mt!dical atten110 1 cannol ha ve lheir medicalneeJs lll· ~rl• H 11\eJ 11 In k 111 
detention. (Código Federal de ProceJimÍenlos Penales. AI1tcles 1 XX-In .) Fui1her. lhe F eJeral Law lo Preven! :lntl 1 'un1 sh lt'llll lc' 
requires that a doctor investigatmg tonun: must report h1 s ur her tinJings. (Lcv F~Jcral p::~r:J Prevemr y Sanclllllar la T"nura . 1\1l1l·k 
7.) In addition, intcrnational stanJards prnvide g.uiJancc similar g.uiJance /\ccurd1ng lo thc SlanJarJ Minunum R.uk~ . !"he lllc·dlc·. d 
officer shall see and examine c:\'cr\' pnsoncr as Stllln as puss1hl~ :~lh:r h1s ;_¡JmiSSIIlll anJ lhen::::~tter as nccc:ssan . 11 1lh " 'll'" 
partícularly to ... the taking of all nccc:ssarv nH:asurcs .. lo lrcal thc pnson~r ( St:~nJarJ Mmimum Ruk~ ti•r thé lr.::iii11L'll l ••l 
Prisoners. Article 24 .) 
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IV. Torture and Other Abuses During the 1995 Crackdown 

Á) Maria Gloria Benavides Guevarac3 

Police arrested María Gloria Bcna\'ldcs. whom the go1cmmcnt cl aims is Zapati sta leadcr "Comnndnntc Eil ~a. " 

at approxirnately 4:15p.m. on Fcbruary 8. 1995. atlcr thcy rn1dcd hcr home in Mc:xico City Prosecutors chnrgcd h~r 111111 
rebellion, terrorism. criminal conspiracy. and posscss ion ofunaut hori zcd wcapons. On July 14. aftcr nj udg~ droppcd thc 
terrorism charge, Benavides lcft prison on bail. On No1·cmbcr l. a judgc acqlllttcd her of all chnrgcs. thout:h thc Mc\.IClll 
govemment has appealed the dccision. 

Prosecutors based the most serious chargcs against Bcnavidcs on qucstionable and illcgally obtamcd evi tkncc . 
Police justified the raid on her home on a complaint by aman named Odilón Hcmández Flores. who reported to pol1 cc 
that three well-armed men and an armed woman robbed him outside a home that tumed out to be Bena1·idcs · s 111 th~ 
moming ofFebruary 8. Hernández said that the assailants entered the house after the robbery. e~ According to Bcna1 1dcs . 
police did not show her a warrant, though they maintained that thcy had one. :~ The poli ce gained entry to hcr homc h1 
pretending to be friends of her in-laws. 

In their investigation ofthe allcgcd robbcry. police claimcd thnt ncighbors of Benavides. whom policc sn1d rcfu!'cd 
to provide their narnes to investigators. sa id that an11cd pcoplc frcqucntly cntcrcd Jnd lcft the Benav ides hom~ . Hcrn :11tdu 
gave police a false address for his res idcnce : not only did the st rcctn umbcr not ex 1st. but Hcmándc1. gn ' e t h ~ old nall lL' 
ofa street whose narne had changcd .:" Aftcr giving hi s initinl complnint. the allcgcd robbery ,·ictim could nnt he lnL·;11 L·d 
by the poi ice to rati fy the infom1at1 on he gave. :· 

Benavides said that police blindfoldcd hcr and took hcr lo a building on which. through her blindfold nnd h1 tl lL· 
lights ofthe car, she saw the words "military prison." According to thc nccount she providcd to CN DH ofli c1al!' (lll 
February 14, a radio blasted at high volume during hcr int CITOga tion nnd fo r thc fo llowing dny and n hnlf. prci Cllllng hL·r 
from sleeping. 28 Authorities forced hcr to undress for two medica! c:xa minations and made hcr s1gn a s t a t~m~ nt s~ 1 cr;ll 
pages in length that they did not pem1it her to read . Prosecu to rs dc nicd hcr thc nght to have her 01111 attorncy prcscnt 
duringjudicial proceedings. Benavides told representativcs of Me:x ican human nghts groups that mtcrroga tors tnld llL· r 
they also held her eighteen-month-old son. Vicente. nnd \\ Ould hann him if shc did not si gn the confesS IOll 

The case reveals two othcr irrcgularitics. First. thc samc .. pcrson of contidcnce ... Antomo Ah·arndo Hcrn <1ndCI 
witnessed and coWltersigned statemcnts madc by Bcna1·idcs and by a mnn namcd Salvador Mornles Gariba1. onc u l· tllL· 
main state witnesses against severa! of the allegcd Zapati stas. lt would appcar. therc fo re. that aftcr pros~cutors dc n1cd 
Benavides the right to choose hcr O\\n attomey. thcy assigncd hcr thc samc "pcrson of confidence .. as had b~cn ass1gncd 
to a key state witness. Second. an additional statcmcnt attnbutcd to Bcnavidcs. made in the aftcmoon of Fchrunl\ '1 

suggests that prosecutors fabricatcd tcstimonv and di srcgarded Bcna1·ides · s nght to adequatc dcfensc. A statc-np pc111l!cd . -
legal defender narned Julián César García Aguilar purported ly 1\ itncsscd this sccond dcclaration. bu t. as th~ C DH h ; 1~ 

noted, García's signature also appeared on the decl aration of nnothcr nllcgcd Zapati sta . Luis SánchcL a1 arrctc. "hPtn 

n Maria Gloria Bennvidcs gOéS hv tho:: namo:: .. Eiisa .. [kn:m Jcs t lnthc: grounds !ha!. dunng thc: scarch "r hcr h"ll ~l· . 1'' d1L·,· 
found passports with othc:r nnmcs hut with hc:r picn.u·e. wtu1 dnctunenL.; in thc: case m:JI..;o:: rcfero::nce tn hc:r ns .. F. Ji.;a l·kn;i\ tLk ' -\le · ,,., 1 
or Olivia Alcacer Ruiz. or Balhma Flnn:s. or Maria Ci lona 8clWVtdc:s Ci ttc: \·ara ... 

24 Sixth District Coun of Cnminal Matt c:rs ofthc: Federal Distnct. sc:nlcnco: 111 o::Jso: No 17/')5 . Nlli'O: I11hcr 1. 1 •)• ¡ -; 

25 Human Rights Watch/ Amencas tc: lephone tntt:l\'10:\\' with Maria ( il"na lknn\·1des. Janual\· 1 l . 1 ')')h 

26 Sixth District Coun, sentence m case No. 1 7 f <) 5 

27 Centro de Dc:rechos Htunanos "Migud Ag~.L-a in l' r" Juúro:z ... pro:ss rdcaso: . Mm· X. 1 <)<)5 . and S1 'dh 1 )l ,l ttcl l ·,.1111. ,L.IIk'lt.' 
in case No. 17/95 . 

28 Comisión Nacional de Derechso Humanos. "Ncwsktto: r ... N" 24 . Fc:hrua rv 1 •)<)5. p. 11 . 
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police dctained in Yanga. Veracmz. on Febmary X. According to the oflicial copies of the declarations of Bcnaddcs allll 
Sánchez, this legal defender signed both dcclarations atthe same time on the same day, indicating that authoritics ma\ 
ha ve fabricated one or both of the declarations . ··rhis leads to the supposition."' the CNDH .. vrote in its analysis of thc 
Yanga case, "that the defense given to the [ detainces] during the initial in\'estigation (overi~1wcicin prcvw) '' a~ 

notoriously irregular and deficient. if it existed at al l. "~9 

On November l. 1995, Judge Fernando Andrés Orti z Cruz acquittcd Benavides of all charges. arguing that thc 
police did not ha ve a valid scarch warrant and that the statc ncver proved the e:xistence of the alleged victim of the rohbc r~ 
outside Sena vides 's home. Judge Ortiz stopped short of rcviewing the actual treatment received by Benm·idcs. re l~ · ing 

instead on jurisprudence from the First Court of thc Si:xth Circuit. which had dcfincd a coerced statemcnt as one g11 en 
~thout the constitutional guarantees regarding search and seizure being mct: 

By virtue ofthe reasoning presented above. one cannot but conclude legally that confessions provided 
by María Gloria Benavides Guevara .. . before the agent of the Federal Public Ministry were extracted 
though physical and mental pressure, because. in addition to the fact that she stated before this court that 
this was the case . .. . so has held the First Court ofthe Si:xth Circuit. . . . which has said. "A forced 
confession is one given by a dctained person if the rcquirements of Articlc 16 of the Constitution ha, ·c 
not been fulfilled. "30 

Regardless of the outcome of the pending appcal of the acquittal of Ben:l\ ides. the Mexican go,·emment shoul d 
investigate the mistreatment of Bena\'idcs . including thc use of a blindfold on her: thc possibility that she ''as hcld at 
Military Base No. 1: the denial of an adequatc defcnsc. including irregularities invol ving the .. person of contidcncc · 
rissigned to her; and the irregularities in the Hemándcz complaint, including what appears to be police fabrication of thc 
complaint in order to justify the raid on Benavides · s house. The government should prosecute those found respons1hlc 

8) Javier Elorriaga Berdcgué 
1 Soldiers detaincd Javier Elorriaga Bcrdegué. a documentan· film-makcr and the husband of Maria Glon;l 
Benavides. at the Ejido Gabino Vásquez. in Chiapas. at R: 15 a.m. on February IJ A helicopte~ belonging to thc Olf tcc 
ofthe Attomey General flcw him to Tu:xtla Gutiérrez. Chiapas S tate. latcr that day. After an agent of the Ofli cc ol' thc 
Attomey General questioned him. he was remanded into custody at the Cerro Hueco Prison in Tu:xtla Gutiérrc1. on chargc:-; 
ofsedition, mutiny. rebellion. terrorism. and conspiracy. On April !4. an appeals court judge dropped thc ··scdition .. and 
'·mutiny' ' charges. Elorriaga remams in Cerro Hueco Prison. 

In an intmiew \\<ith Human Rights Watch/ Amcricas in Cerro Hueco Prison on Apri1 6. Elorriaga satd that so ld1cr:-; 
did not sho\\<n him an arrest warrant when thcy picked him up and that they denied him the right to contact n lnwyer bc forc 
questioning. According to dcfense attomeys working on the case. the oflicial case file on Elorriaga does not conta111 an 
arrest warrant., though the CNDH notes that his arrest followed the issuance of a warrant. 31 Oflicials at the Office of thc 
Attomey General did not allow him to read the statement they drew up. but they told him that in case of error. he \\ Oldd 
have an opportunity to correct and amend his statement when he appeared bcfore the judge. His state-appointed attomc\ 
advised him to sign the statement. which he did . He subsequently discovered that severa! of his statements hnd hccn 
transcribed incompletely and gave a misleading imprcssion. In his statcmcnt to the judge he denicd thc chargc:-. 

2° Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos. Recnmmendntion 50/')5 . reproJucet.l in (;nce tn . No 57 . Apnl 1 'l'J:' 1' S I• 

Jo Sixth District Cnun . senlc.:m:..: m cnsc.: Nn. 17 1•)5 . 

JI Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos. "Nc.:wsl c.: tter. .. No. 24. Fehntnrv 1 ')')5. p 1 : . 
' 
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categorically. In January 1996. Elorriaga said thnt he hnd bccn \\ Ork ing ns :~n intcnncdinry bet\\Ccn Suhcomm;liHkr 
Marcos and Presiden! Zedillo at the time of his arrest. 1 ~ 

The evidence against Javier Elorriaga consists of the affidavit of Salvador Morales Garibny. Elorringn's '' 1 k\ 
forced confession. and his mvn dcclaration. On June 22. ajudge rulcd that Elorriaga would not be able to cross-C:\illlllllL' 
one ofthe people alleged to have testified against him. his wife Maria Gloria Benavides. arguing that it ''as not poss1hk 
to transport her from Mexico City, where shc was in jniL to Chiapas 3

·
1 On January 2. 1996. n judgc niled n ~; 1in s t 

Elorriaga 's court challenge of the indictment against himJ~ 

The prosecution 's use of the testimony of Salvador Morales Garibay, who accused Elorringn of heading thc 
EZLN's Ideology Commission,35 is a matter of serious concem to Human Rights Watch/Americas . The whereabouts of 
Morales have been a mystery ever since he gave his initial declaration in February 1995. On April 7. Morales failcd to 
respond to a judicial swnmons to appcar in court lo ratif)' his declaralion. Three days late.r. he failed lo nppcnr lo fncc 
questioning by the defense. All told, he has failed to appear at least seven times for various court-related procedures . As 
a result, Eloniaga has been unable to challenge in court the evidence that led to the most serious charges agninst him. in 
violation of Mexican and intemational standards requiring the accused to be able to cross-examine. in front of n judgL·. 
anyone who testifies against him or her. 

Further. the status of Morales and the nnture of his testimony nre in doubt. The Me:\ican govemment hns g1' en 
contradictory statements about Morales. Lcgnl documents show thnt Mornles testified to nn agent ofthe Public Min1st1' . 
Lic. Eduardo Berdón. on February 8. 1995. Howcver. according to lawyers consulted by Human Rights Watch/Amcnc;b . 
the form of the statement, in which Berdón first rend Morales his rights under the Federal Code of Penal Procedurcs. 1:-­
typical of a preliminary statement made by a criminnl suspcct in custody. A senior official of the Interior Ministry sccn11.:d 
to confirm this in a February 17 briefing for foreign reporters. stating that Morales was one of four top commnnders ol" 
the Zapatistas, and that he had been detainedJ6 On February 20. the attomey general. Antonio Loznno. contradictcd thi s 
j>osition. denying that Morales had ever been detained. He did so again on March 27 in Washington. D. C . at n mccti11 ~ 

with Human Rights Watch/ Americas and other human rights b'TOups . 
Morales 's February 8 statement does not indicatc that authorities questioned him about his own acti,·ities il:' ;111 

alleged EZLN mcmber, and it gives no reason for his nlleged defcction . lf Morales had been in detention \\hen he t! 'l' ..: 
his statement. he should have been available for court-ordered nppearnnces. since Mexican law makes no pro,·ision lór 
releasing confessed criminals. yet he did not appear.1

• This suggests that authoritics did ei thcr of three things th rou~h 
incompetence or deliberation. they released a confesscd criminaL thcy did not bclie,·e Morales· s stntcmcnt hut u sed ;t 
anyway against Elorriaga: or they fabricated the testunony altogether. 

The Mexican govemment should initiate an invcstiga tion into the inndequate defcnse recei ,·ed b: Elorrin g<L th L· 
procedural irregularities in the case. nnd the possibility thnt the Garibny tcstimony was fnbricnted by prosec ut nr' 

n Tekphone interview with the Centro para los Dcn.:chn~ Humanns "Migut!l A¡wstin Pro Ju:ira ... .l <llll l<ll' 111 , .,., , 

telephone interview with Pilar Noriega. January 1 O. 1 'J% 

!' 33 Centro para los Derechos Humanos "Miguel Agustín Pro .Ju:ira: · press rdense. June 2') . 1 ')1)5 
34 Centro para los Derechos Humanos "Miguel Agustín Pro .luán.:z." "St!rvicio Diario de lntimnacH·lll de: Dc:1 n:li•" 

Humanos," January 4, 1996. 

Jl Agustín Amhriz and Ricardo Ravelo, "La PCiR dt:jn a Zcdilln sin sustt:nln jurídiw t!ll su uecisJÚn poliiiC<I de <ICih<ll \ 

encarcelar a presuntos zapatistas,'' Proceso, April 1 O. 1095. p. 15. 

36 Tim Golden. "Mexican Rights Moni tor S;-~\ · s Sume Gut:ITill as Wt!rt: To11 urcd." .Vew York Times . rc:hnl ;-~ 1'\ 21 . l 'l'l~ 

37 No legal provisions exist in Mexico for plea harg;-~ining or ti1r thc olrcr of cumpkte nr pm1ial immun1tY fr, 1111 pr• '' L'L'' III • ·11 

in retum for contidential informat¡on likely lo lead tn the solutinn of crimes. 
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T estimony used against Eloniaga that olllcials obtaincd illegally. such as that of his "'i fe . Mari a G Ion¡-¡ Bcn<l\ 1ck~ . ,ht 'tdd 
be disregarded by the courts . Any official found guilty of \\Tongdoing should be prosccuted. 

C) Jorge Santiago Santiago 
In his televised speech on Fcbruary 9. Prcsident Zedilla declared Jorge Santiago Santiago to be a leader or thc 

EZLN. 38 The director of the Chiapas-based Social and Economic Development for the Me:xican lndigenous Pcopk 
(Desarrollo Económico y Social de los Mexicanos Indígenas. DESM!). Santiago was arrested the follo,,ing da' . Thc 
testimony of Salvador Morales Garibay constituted the only evidence againsl him. On April 14_ the appeals court 111 
Tuxtla Gutiérrez ordered the charges against Santiago dropped after accepting the defense argument thnt thc go' cnllllCi ll 
had not substantiated its case. 

D) Eight Detainees from Cacalomacán, Statc of Mc:xico: Fernando Domíngucz Paredes. Joel Martíncz Hcrnandu 
Gonzalo Sánchez Navarrete, Celia Martínez Guerrero. Patricia Jiménez Sánchez. Ofclia Hemández. Brenda Rodrigue; 
Acosta, and Gerardo López López. 

Police arrested Lhese eighL detainees in Cacalomadn. S taLe of Me:xico. on February 1
) . "' Acllng "1Lh " ~ c~ll'l: li 

warrant, police attempLed Lo gain entry Lo the suspecLs' house. According to Lhe NaLional Human Ríght s C'o mn11 ~~~n1 1 

"While trying to fulfill the arrest wnrrnnt. on Febn1ar:· lJ . 1995. S tate of Mexico Judicial Police oiTiccrs \\ere rece" l·d '" 
the people in the house \\ith gunfirc. which lnsted for nlmost three hours ... ,,Severa! of!icers \\'ere woundcd :md nn L· .. lt " '. 
Manuel Sánchez. later died. 

Police took the detainees to the S tate Office of the Attomey General in Toluca. S tate of Mexico. ~111d thcn to "h ~11 
they believed lo be a military base. The detainees · belief thdt they were hcld briefly al Militar:· Base No. 1 ";¡ :-; 

underscored by testimony from one of the arrcsting officers. '' ho tcstified in court that he signed his declaration nt tllc 
base, not at the State Office ofthe Attomcy General. \\'hcrc he initinlly said he had given his declaration . 11 T"o days ¡-¡!'ter 
their detention., they were taken to the Reclusorio Norte. a detention center north of Me:xico City. The detninces currcnt h 
await tria! in the Centro de Readaptación Social in Almoloya. in Toluca. State of Me:xico. on chnrgcs of stnr ll1 ):! . 
possessing and manufacturing unauthorized \\eapons. terrorism. conspiracy. and homicide _ ~: 

The CNDH carried out medica! e:xaminations of the Cacalomacrin prisoncrs on February 11 . thc da~ ot' thc11 
transfer to the Reclusorio Norte. finding that all of them had wounds thatthcy attributed lo the pollee. "Rcsponslhilll \ 
for the injuries causcd to the detainecs will hn,·e to be di stributed among all ofthe public scrvants ''ho partic1patcd-- 111 
the arrests , the CNDH detem1ined. ~~ According to the prisoncrs intcrviewed by Human Rights Watch/ Amcrica ~. llOlll' 
ofthem receivcd medica! attention during the forty-e1ght hours oftheir police detention. although atthe place thcy thoughl 
lo be the militar:· base called Campo Militar No. l . they \\ere made Lo strip severa! times for a medica! c,..;nmin~11io11 

38 Pre:mienc1a Je la Repuhlica, Roktin Je Pr...:nsa No 150, Fehruarv 'J. 1 ')')5, p. 4. 
3
• Human rights groups. mclutling the govemm..:nt · s Nntinnal Human Rights Commission. ha\·e h.:c:n unahk 111 dc· icTJ Jllltc· 

all of the poli ce torces that partic1pated m the arres t. SII1Ct: pollee JiJ nut keep accurate rewrJs un the r:ml. 

.a Comisión Nacional de Dcrechos Humanus, "lnli1nnt: Especwl de la Comisión Nacional Je Dt:rt:chns HuiJWilllS ~~~ hr..: '"' 
Acciones Rea li zada.~ en el Marco del Trastorno lntt:rior Jd Estado Jc: Chiapas. Entre el 9 y el 19 Je Fehrero Jc: 1 ')'J:i ... r.:pn •dt ll·,·, 1 
in Gaceta , No. 55 . Fehruary 1995 , p 35 

'
1 Centro para los Derechos Humanos "Migud Agustin Prn .luira ..... lnlinlne Narrativo sohre la Oefensa .lunu1ca de· f,. , 

Presuntos Zapat1stas Presos ... Septemh...:r 25 . 191J5 . 

nOn June 8. a charge of am1s transpnning was Jropped. 

<J Corrus1ón Nacional de Derechos Humanos. (1ace ta, No. 55 . Fchnwry 1 ')95, p. 36. 
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Despite these examinations. thcir injuries. which incllldcd. in onc case. gllnshol wollnds. were reportedly nol lrc¡¡lcd . In 
their dcclarations before a judge. severa! of lhe prisoncrs rctractcd parts of lhc statements they madc lo lhc Oflíu: nf thL· 
Attomey General, saying they had becn blindfolded and threntcncd or prcssured into signing. 

According to the Miguel Agustín Pro Juárcz Human Rights Cenler. police have been unnble lo locnte lhc slatc­
nppointed lawyers who nssisled thc dctninees in giving thcir initinl statements to officials of the Office of the Attornc1 
General. In nll but one case. the nddrcsscs they gnve do not cxist. The one stnte-nppointed lnwyer who has becn localcd 
fai led to respond to judicial summonscs until Janunry 19, 1996. ~4 In nddition. according to defense lawycrs. lhc ;mn ~ 
allegedly found at the scene of the dctcntion wcre not cntalogucd on the spot. in violation of Mexican la11·. so thcrc 1s 1111 
way to know what the police really encountered in thc house. Thc dcfcnse also says that the number ofbags of illcgal 
material allegedly discovered at the house is vnriollsly reportcd in oflícinl documents as seven nnd ele\ en. 1' 

Fernando Domínguez told Human Rights Watch/Americas during an April 4 interview thnt State of Mcx1co 
Judicial Police and public security officers participnted in the operation. and thnt these authorities punched. kickcd. allCI 
beat the suspects after they had surrendered. Police thcn blindfolded the detainees, removed their shoes. and 1hrc11 lhcm 
on top of one another in a van. Ofelia Hernández reported to Human Rights Watch/ Americns: 

The police entered the house. benting. gr¡¡bbing and dragging liS. The police started to shoot al 1m 
husband. Then the policc took liS to a \'chicle. lhrcw liS on thc noor. and sal on top of liS. Whcn \1 e 

nrrived nt a house. thcy covercd our cycs . Whcn wc got down from thc \'Chicle they thrcw liS on 1hc 
ground ngnin. There. thcy took lots of photos. Ollr fingcrprints . and m¡¡dc us sign things that wc didn ·l 
know whnt they were. Then thcy too k us to anolhcr holi SC. "he re thcy loo k off our clothes and kcpl u~ 
blindfolded. Thcy asked me if 1 was a Zapatista and started to say that if 1 didn't nnswer correctly thc~ 
would pul me in a weiL then lhey started to incrcasc thc volumc of lhc music and started to shout a lol 
Someone told liSto gel up and that if we didn't wc \\'Ollld dic. From there. we were takcn lo thc 
Reclusorio Norte. where we were treatcd well. ~~ 

Dominguez snid the poi ice transportcd thcm to the Toluca Office of thc Attomey General of the S tale of Mc"w. 
\\·here they were hcld for sorne two hours. After being questioncd there. thcy werc taken toa milita~· establishment. "luch 
Donúnguez bclieved to be Can1po Militar No. 1 in M~xico City. where he said he was blindfolded. interrogntcd. and hcld 
without water or food while continuous loud music blasted . .. Two peoplc threatcncd me and put a plastlc bag 01 cr 111 1 

head. Thcy wantcd meto give thcm thc addrcsses of othcr people ... Domingllcz told Human Right s W¡¡tch /,.\mcnc;I~ 

Gerardo López Lópcz. whorn Human Rights Watch/Amcricas tntcrvicwcd on April 11. said that bullcls lut httll 
in the arm and both legs 11hen police burst into the darkcncd housc alter the group had surrendercd. A pol1cc ol'liw 
opened tire wilh a machinc gun as he lay on the noor. Although Lópcz blcd. policc gave him no first a1d Rathcr. thc1 
beat him, dragged him to a waiting vchicle. and thrcw him on top of thc other prisoners. One of thc pol1cc :-~gc nl ~ 

reportedly stood on his injured knee intentionally. U pon arrival at thc Toluca hcadquarters of the Office of thc Attornc' 
General ofthe S tate of Mexico. López was rcgistcrcd. questioncd intcnscly. nnd then put into a cell. There. he rece!\ cd 
no medica! attention. At about 4:00a.m. on Fcbn1a~· 1 O. he was takcn by nmbulance toa military hospital '' herc he" ;h 

admitted and treated. although the guards continucd to insult him. During this period. he was held lncomnlunlc¡¡dn l(ll 

"Lencr from David Femántlez. e\t:elltl\'é Jireetnr nf th.: C..:ntro para h1s Derechos Humanos "Migu..:l A~us lltl l'r11 .111,11L'I 
to Joel Solomon. January 2X. 1996 

' 1 Human Rights Watch/Amr.:."!lcas intervie\\' \\'ith ddl:n~ attnmevs Pilar Nl lri<.:ga antl .l llS¿ Lavamkn '" Mc\ 1Ci ' t '111 ·\ 11!.:11'1 
28. 1995 

'
6 Human Rights Watch/Am..:ricas interYiew. Reclusorio No11e. April 4. 1 l)'J5 . 

" Ihid. 
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fifteen days.48 The military hospital infom1ed the Miguel Agustín Pro Juárez Human Rights Center that. on Fcbn.iill\ 17. 

they transferred López from the military hospital to the civilinn 20 de NO\·iembre Hospital. but the ciY ilian hospital dcn1 cd 
that they had accepted him as a patient. Five days later, on Febn1ary 17. the CNDH located López at the ci,ilian Hos piw l 
Juárez de Mexico, where he was kept under police guard. On March 7. after undergoing surgef! ·. he \\as transkrrcd tn 
the Reclusorio Preventivo Norte. 

On January 9, 1996. three representatives of the Offíce of the Attomey General visited the detainees to qucstion 
them about their allegations of torture, in fulfillment of a judge · s order issued eight months earlier. in Ma1 1 '>'>"' 
According to one of their dcfense attomeys, Pilar Noriega, the Offíce of the Attomey General did not noti~ thc la\\ 1 cr ' 
or the detainees of the impending interviews: her clients. \\ho had been instructed by their lawyers not Lo talk J(l 

govemment officials about thcir case without their lawyers present. refused to speak to the investigators. whom thc 
detainees reported were aggressive in their attitude . ~9 A representative of the Office of the Attomey General told Noriega 
later that, after the detainees refused to give testimony, he said. in jest, ''Do you want meto beat you into testif~ · ing ·r· · .. 
On January 1 O, 1996, a representative of the Office of the Attomey General interviewed Gonzalo Sánchez Na\·arrete. ;1 

minor, who is being held separntely, about his allegations of torture. Pilar Noriega. who happened to be present at th l· 
time the investigator nrrived, assured Sánchez that it was legitimate for him to coopera te." 

lt was not surprising that the·se dctainees, who ha ve e\'ef!' reason Lo fear abuse from govemment rcprcscnt:lll 1 e~ . 

were mistrustful of the investigators, especially as no etTort was m a de to giYe them or their legal counsclors ¡mor nnt1c l· 
of the investigation. Human Rights Watch/Americas recommends that im·estigators re-interYie\1 thc dct a lll cc~ 11 1 tl h· 
presence of their legal representatives and with advance notice. 

Govemment officials should immediatelv w1dertake to determine \lhich officials were responsiblc lor thc ahu~c ~ 

in this case, including: the beating~ and othe,"abuses sustained by the detainees : the stripping and blindfolding of thc 
detainees: the incommunicado detention under milita!!' guard of Gerardo López López: and the irrcgulanties in thc 
defense, including the inability ofthe go,·ernment to produce thc legal detcndcrs it originally ass igned to thc dct:11ncc~ 

E) Seven Dctainees from Yanga, Veracruz State: Ricardo Hemándcz Lópcz. Hilario Martínez Hemández. Martín Tru11ll n 
Barajas, Luis Sánchcz Navarrcte. Ah·aro Castillo Granados. Rosa Hemández Hemández and Hem1elinda Garcí<J Zc¡d lll ;l 

Police from Vcracll.lz arrested these suspccts nt nbout 5 30 p.m. on Febn.Jaf!· X. 1 99 ~ . :11 a housc in Y > lll ~,, 

Verncruz. The police. who had n warrnnt to detain three differcntmcn 111 connection with an unrcl atcd cnmc. Jlkscdh 
found unauthorized weapons and explosives in the house. On Febn.Jaf!· 13. the si-;th di strict judge in the Fcdcr<JI Dl:> tn ,·t 
Lic. Fernando Andrés Ortiz Cn.1z. fonnally indicted the seYcn suspccts on charges of criminal associ at 1on. rchc ll llln . .IIH! 

possession, stornge, nnd transport of unauthorized wcapons and cxplos i,·es 

Police uscd a search warrant alleging a sccret weapons cache in the house for a totally different CrlllliiJ;ll 
investigation ata difTerent address and involving other suspccts wantcd for a crime dating from August 1 <)C) l . The c~; oH 
investigated the use ofthe warrant. dcclaring it "reprehensible that [through] fictitious reports and criminal im·es ti ga ti O II ~ 
unrelated to the case in hand, attempts should be made to decei,·e the judicial nuthorities in the hope of rcmcd1 1n ~ " 

'
8 Centro para los Dered10s Humanos "Mi guel Agustín f'ro .lu ~ ra ... " lnli1nn..: s•1hre In Deknsa JuríJ1ca de· ' "~ l 'r..:~lll\1• " 

Zapatistas," January 1 0%. p. 7 

•• Human Rights Watch/Am..: ricas tekphon..: tntct'l' i..:w With f' ilnr Nnrt eg;~ . J¡¡ nuarl' 1 O. 1 ')')(, 

lO fhiJ . 

ll Thid. 
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deficient investigation and obtain ing the necessary• orders by these means. "' 2 In addition. the tes timony from Maria ( i lon<l 
Benavides, recognized later by the same court as having been gi ,·enunder pressure. fom1s par. of thc accusat1 011 aga 111 ~ 1 

Marín Trujillo Barajas. ident ifi ed in Benavides 's tes timony as someone \\hO nssisted the EZLN " ·ith thc f:-~ brica t i o n lli" 
anns . 

Hwnan Rights Watch/Americas interviewed the Yanga prisoncrs in the Reclusorio Preventivo Norte on Apr il 5 
According to the detainees. police tightly hnndcuffed them. kicked and beat them. moved them into a large van or trt1ck. 
and took them toan airport . At least four of the detainces were tortured in the hours immediately after thcir det.;ntion 
Al varo Castillo told Hwnan Rights Wntch/Americas: 

Federal Judicial Police and maybe State Judicial Police participated in the arrest. 1 saw approximatcl ~ 
twenty ofthem. TI1ey subdued us. handcuiTcd us, threw us on the tloor, punched and kicked us. and beat 
us with boards and elcctrical cable. They took me out of thc house with Martín Trujillo, with my head 
covered with a shirt. They put us in the back seat of a car and took us to a dead-end street. They covered 
my mouth with a rag and put mineral water up my nose. 53 

Later, ata location Castillo could not ident i ~' . police beat him. again forced mineral water up hi s nose. shockcd 
him with an elcctric batan, and covered his head with a plastic bag. which almost asphyxiated him. Left alonc in a room 
for severa! hours. Castillo could hear other people being tortured in an adjoining room: police told him that the s ound ~ 
he heard were m a de by his friends. At the airport. an officer who was addresscd as "colonel" put a pi sto! to C ast dlt1':-; 
throat, questioned him. and thrcatened to apply the "law of the escapee." by which he apparently mcant th :-t t he " nul d 
shoot Castillo as if he were try·ing to escape. Blindfolded. thc prisoners \\ ere taken by plane to a place thc' hc l1 c' úl t< • 
be Campo Militar No. 1 in Mexico Cit:y, where they ''ere hcld incommunicado. 

According to Castillo. an official beat him and thrcatcncd him. saying that he would be relea sed i f he s1gncd ;¡ 
statc.ment but would be dunked in a tank ofwater ifhe did not. Thc intcrrogation !as ted about one halfhour. Ofll ciill ' 
took him toa large room that hada type\\TÍter in it. rcmo,·ed hi s blindfold. and made him face the \\ al l. He s1gncd p i1pc r ~ 

that he could not read and was takcn back to bis cell. When in his cell. loud music made it impossible for him to slccp 
The detainees ha ve recanted their initial statements. which thcy allcge \\'ere obtained under force . On Febrt1ary· 1 O. thc' 
were transferred to the Reclusorio Norte. 

The prisoners deni ed rece iving medica ! c:xaminations prior to their arrival in Campo Militar No l . ' 'hcrc thL·, 
were made to strip and werc gi,·en a curso ry· c:-;amination. Lui s Sánchez. a metalworkcr who \\as disabled 111 hoth h ;md ~ 

dueto a soldering accidcnt. told Human Ri ghts Watch/Amcricas that he \\·as g¡,·en drops fo r an eyc infcc t1 011 causcd h~ 

his blindfold : Martín Truj illo. \\hO had reccntly undcrgone abdom111al surgery for cancer. was gi,·cn l\\ O p a 1nkill 1n ~ 

injcctions for pain from thc parti ally healed surgical scar. on "hich he had bccn beaten. The detainecs sa1d thc' rece'' L·d 
their first thorough medica! cxamination when they arri,·ed at the Reclusorio Norte. 

The information gathcrcd by Human Rights Watch/ Americas coincided '' ith the detailed tindings of thc CN DH 
investigation in this case. Thc CN DH concluded thatthc det:-tinees "were subject to physical and psychologtca l tonurc 
designed to obtain information about thc EZLN and to gct thcm to sign sc if-incriminating declarations ... ' 1 The C DH 
al so found prima facie evidence that four agcnts of the Office of the Attomey General fail ed Lo record the dctai nc( · '· 
injuries when placed in their custody, and that a doctor from the Office of the Attomey General may ha ' e i'ab1rt(d 

12 CNDH. RewmmenJat10n 50/95. p. l) l. 

IJ Human Rights Wateh/Americas interYiew. April 5. 1 'JIJ5 . 

H CNDH. RecommenJation 50/95. p. R4. 
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infonnation in a medica) certificate issued on Februnry ''by fniling to record injuries " As th1 s rcport wcnt to prc~ ~- thc· 
results ofthe S tate Office of the A ttorne, · Genernl" s in\'es tl gJ tion 11110 thc CO \ crup hJd not bccn reportee! h' thc ~ 1.11.: ¡,' 
~~OO.H - . 

In ordering that the se,·cn detainccs stand tri JI in Fc bnwry_ the judge m:1de two argumems to dism1ss thw 
retracted confessions and allegations of torture. First. he held that thcre was no proof that the injuries recorded in medid 
examinations were sustained while the seven ''ere in custodv. Second. the judgc stated in ordcring in his indictmcnt th <ll 
even supposing that torture had taken pl:1ce. the confessions ,,·ould not be nullified. He cited Me.xican jurispmdcncc 111 
reaching this conclusion: 

In no way would they [sicj be sufficient to cometo a conclusion other than the one arri,·ed at. And if. 
as has been said, sorne ofthem showed signs of beatings on ditiTerent parts of their body. this . gi,·en thc 
accwnulation ofproofthat exists against them. would not be at all relevant to destroying the causnl link 
established between the conduct laid out and the criminal event of which they are accused. Thc 
retractions should not be given value on the basis of the alleged unconstitutional acts in which thc 
apprehending agents probably engaged. Given the princ ipie of proccdural immediacy. thw lirst 
depositions are the ones that should take prcccdence O\'er their bter ones. because they were giYen closcr 
to the time ofthe facts and without suflicienttime for thinking nbout them or electing ,,·hnt to Sil \ ',-

On October 16. a diiTerent judge threw out the ch<~rges of terrori sm. criminnl association. nnd storing anns <llld 
explosives, arguing that the Office ofthe Attomey Gener<JI had not proved its cnse. ' ~ The Office of the Attomc' Cicncr;li 
has appealed the decision rejecting these charges. " ·hile the defense has appealed the decision inasmuch <~s thc u1hc1 
charges were left intact. The National Human Rights Commission. which recommended that the st<Jte nttorn e~ gcncr;il 
investigate the torture it docmnentcd. h :~d no infonnation that such :~n i1n-estig<Jtion had e,·en bcgun by the time this rcpml 
\Yent to press5 9 According to the defense. neither the dctainees· nor their attome,·s ha,·e been intcr\'iC\\ cct l'or ~ u eh ;111 
investigation. 60 

The govemment of Me.xico should invcstignte the torture :~nd beat111gs reportcd by the detninees. the dc111 al ni' 
medical treatment. and the poss ibility that thcy were hcld at C:~mpo Militar No. l . The go,·emment should al so ill\csti gatc 
the CNDH 's findings that <~ gents of the úffice of the Attomey General tried to report the medical condition of thc 
detainees. In addition. the govemment should dr:1ft lcgis l:llion to cnsure that tcst11nony gi,·en under torture" di he rc¡cctL·d 

F) Francisco Alejandro García Santiago 
Police arrested Francisco Alej:1ndro G:-~ rcin Sa nti :-~go on Febn1ar:· 12 in Orizaba. Ver<lCnl/ .. hut onh <li'l cr 

arbitrarily detaining his brother. mother. :-~nd f:-~ther. At appro.ximately 4 llO p 111 on Febmar:· 1 O. threc men "ho rcl'uscd 
fü identify themselves detained his brother. Víctor Hugo Garcia Santiago. on :1 st ree t in Orizab¡¡ Víc tor Hugo ·~ l.;llh.-• 

11 Ihid. 

16 Presidencia de la Comisión Nat:innal dé Der.xhus 11tunanus. "S1t11at:H.lll que a la ll:dw guardan las rét:lllllénd : Jt:l "llt: ~ ' 1'" 1' 

132/95 y 158/95," January 15. 199ó. p. 1 

17 Auto de Formal Pri sión (Índtt:lméntl . ~:a s e: No 11 (,/')5. Fc:hn1arv 1.1 . 1 ')')5 

58 Centro para los Dén:t:hos Humanos "M1p.ué l 1\p.uslin ['ro .lu:ira ... "Sél\'lt:lll D1anu ck l111;,nnat:1"11 ,k· 1 ktc·~.:iJ,. , 
Humanos," Octoher 18. 1995. 

59 Presidencia de la CnmiSIÓil Nat: Jll ll allk i)..:r..:t:hlls llllll1:1110S. "Si luacl!'lll qu ..: a la r;:cha guardan 1' 

60 Human Rights Watd11Amencas tekphune 1nten·1c: \\' mth l'il:tr N11nega . .lanuarv 1 O. 1 ')% 
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Alejandro García Monterrosns. tried to pre\'ent the abduction. but the rnen be:-~t him on the facc nnd bod\' : th..: CN DH lat..:1 
verified his injuries. Imrnediately afterward. Alejnndro García and his \life. Marin de los Angeles San t1 :-~go de (i;lrcl.l . 
denounced the events to the Orizaba OITice of the Attomev General of the Stnte of Verncmz. 

Approxi.mately four hours later on the sarne day. fi\·e plainclothes Judicial Police officers used force toen ter th ·· 
García home. They aggressively questioned Víctor Hugo ·s sister. Mónicn Garcia. about the whereabouts of her othcr 
brother, Francisco Alejandro. tclling her that he wns in scrious trouble becnuse of his .. links with the EZLN ·· Whilc thc 
agents were still in the house. Alejandro Gnrcín nnd Maria de los Angeles Santingo retumed home. After a discuss1on. 
they agreed to accompany the agents to see Víctor Hugo61 Alejnndro Garcin told the CNDH. however. that one of thc 
police officers told him that if they did not agree to go with the police. lhey would be laken by force -": Before agre..:ing 
to accompany the police, however. thcy tclephoned the Public Ministry. which assured thcm it was safc for lhem to go "1th 
the police. 

The police took the couple toa modem building in the nearby resort t0\\11 Fortín de las Flores. which the famd~ 
members later identified as the Public Securit:y Departmcnt of lhe stalc govemmenl where they were 111terrogatcd 111 
separate rooms. According lo their testimonies. thcy were forced to sit for hours. ··we asked if we hnd been hrought th..:r..: 
to see our son, to answer questions. or ifwe had been detained. but they didn 't ans\ler us .' ' Marin de los Angeles Santin~n 
de García told Human Rights Watch/ Americns . .. \Ve \\ere mndc to s1t for a long time. nnd they didn ·t let us stnnd nr ~ ~~ 

to the bathroom." The police held lhe couplc nt the Fortín de las Fl ores building lo r two nnd a hnlf days . Thcy '' ..:re n•ll 
held strictly incomrnunicado. sínce they were allowcd to phone their borne. but they were clenrly hcld und..:r dur..:s ~ 

On February 12, while thc couple was still in police custody. the police pre\·ailed on María Santiago to coop..:r<llL' 
with them. S he was told that. if she persuaded her son Francisco to surrender. she would be allowed to accompan~ thc 
police agents to their home so that Francisco could sce that she \\as all right. At about 10:00 p m she telephoned thL· 
house and implored Frnncisco to cooperate by lett1ng the police in . She told him that she \\Ould accompany the pnlicc 
Nonetheless, at about 10:30 p.m .. two police ngents forced their " ·ay into the house without either paren!. According ¡,, 
the press, the CNDH. and Garcín Santiago·s dcfcnse. Francisco fcared for hi s s:-~fcty "hen he did not sce h1 s pnrcnts "1th 
the police, so he tried lo kili himselfby getting bitten by a nper he kept in lhe house :-~s n pcth1 The police officers arr..:stcd 
Francisco and were followed in a car by the family bwyer nnd two rebti\·es \\·ho had witnessed thc arrcst. Policc tonk 
him to the Escudero Sanalorium in Orizaba. At lhe hospital. he \\as imerrogated :111d held under stricl guard until Fcbni:JI\ 
15. On February 18. Francisco Garcia wns formal!\' charged "ith sabotage for allegedly attempting to hlo" up ;111 
electricity tower. 

According toan imestigation by thc CN DH. thc complaint tiled by AleJandro Garcia regarding thc beat111 ~ lk· 

was given by po1ice was ne,·cr fo rwarded lo the on-,ce of the Attorney General. so a case aga111st thc pol1cc '"'s nc' L·r 
opened. The CNDH accused the agent respons1ble at lile Publ1c Mllli stry of Jct1ng 1n ··bad failh .. and ··prcsumabl' "111l 
the intention of not continumg the investigntion of the criminal acts denounccd by Mr. Garcia Monterrosas .... , As o!" th..: 
time this report went to press. thc govemor of the state of Vcr:-~cn.ll. had failcd to infonn the CNDH of an~ actlons takc11 
to ensure that the beating case was opcned or that the agcnt rcspons1ble for fail111g to open it in Febn.1af\· was 1m cst1 g<1tcd . 
as per CNDH recomrnendation number 132/'J). tiled in October 1 'J'J) h< 

61 Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos. R.:..:nmm.:nJn11nn 1 :12/')5 . r.:pn,Ju..:.:J 111 ( ioccta . N" ¡, ~ . ( lci<>hcr 1 . ,. , , 1' 

95. 

62 lbid. 

61 "lntentó suicidarse un illlplicado wn él Eli.N al s.: r J.:i.:niJ,, .:11! l¡v;1ha. ·· l.cJ.lcmwclu . F.:hn1al\ 12 . 1 •¡q .; 

M CNDH. Recomm..:nJat1on ll2/'J 5. p lll 2 

61 Presidencia de la Cnm1sión Nac¡onal J..: Dcr.:chns llumanns. ·· Si!U;lCIIlll ljllc a J;¡ kcha ¡:u ardan . 1' 1 
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In a March 3 letter to the nongovemmental Mexican Commission lor the Defense and Promotton of Hun1<11t 
Rights (Comisión Mexicana para la Defensa y Promoción de los Derechos Humanos). Lic. Humberto Femrindez d~ Lara 
Ruiz of the lntemal lnvestigations Department (Contraloría In tema) of the Office of the Attome~· General stated th<lt 
García had confesscd to the judge that he had been a member of the EZLN and that he participated in the blowing up o!' 
two clectricity pylons in the state ofVeracruz and Puebla in January 1994. Femández also denied that "the human rights 
of the García Santiago farnily had been violated at any moment." He said there were "no records of the detention of Victor 
Hugo García Santiago, Alejandro García Monterrosas or Maria de los Angeles Santiago de García ." The attomey general 
of Mexico, Lic. Antonio Lozano, met representatives of the Mexican Conunission on F ebruary 13 and told them th at 
neither the Office of the Attomey Genernl nor the Federal Judicial Policc had becn responsible for the arrests. <11Hi th ;H 
the aulhorities responsible were V eracruz state security forces. 

The govemment of Mexico should undertake to invesligale lhe violalíons in this case and punish according to 
lhe law those found responsible for: the detention of Víctor Hugo Gnrcía. Alejandro García. and Maria Santiago: th~ 
beating of Alejandro García: and the failure of the Attorney Generars oflice to open a case on the beating. 
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MEXICO: HUMAN RIGHTS WATCH/AMERICAS URGES ZEDILLO TO 
COUNTER OFFICIAL ABUSES WITH PROSECUTIONS 

Mexican poli ce and prosecutors engaged in a pattern of human rights 

violations, including torture. during an otfensive against alleged members of the 

Zapatista Army ofNational Liberation (EZLN) last year, according to Human 

Rights Watch/ Americas. In a new stupy of cases from the crackdown. Torture 

and Other Ahuses Duri11¡;: the 1995 Crac.:kdow11 011 Alleged Zapatistas. the New 

York-based rights group finds that government officials beat detainees. extracted 

confessions by force, disregarded due-process guarantees, and tried to cover up 

their abuses. Torture and forced confessions can only be eliminated in Mexico. the 

report argues, if politicalleaders. including Presiden! Ernesto Zedillo. ensure th at 

such abuses are fully and quickly prosecuted. To date, the violations docurnented 

in the report remain unpunished . 

"The profoundly troubling pattern in Mexico is that police torture or beat 

detainees, prosecutors illegally obtain confessions. and judges accept this process 

as valid," according to José Miguel Vivanco, executive director ofHuman Right s 

Watch/ Americas. "We are al so alarmed by the impunity for human rights violation~ 

in Mexico." 
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Torture and ()/her Ahuses During !he 1995 Crackdown on Alleged Zapatistas tracks 
violations beginning in early F ebruary of last year, when newly elected President Ernesto Zedillo 
ordered the Mexican army to help the Attorney General arrest suspected EZLN leaders. For five 
days, the army fought to regain territory in which the EZLN had operated since January 1994. and 
federal and state poli ce worked in tandem to arrest m en and women accused of leading the arrned 
movement. On February 8 and 9, officials detained more than twenty alleged EZLN members in 
three states and the Federal District. Most of the alleged Zapatistas remain in jail. charged with 
crimes such as rebellion and sedition. 

Human Rights Watch/Americas notes in its report that Mexico 's President Ernesto Zedillo 
has publicly recognized the problems of human rights violations and impunity that exist in Mexico 
The rights group argues strongly, however, that the government ofMexico must undertake a 
concerted effort to convert fo rmal human rights safeguards and official human rights policy 
statements into real human rights protections and the punishment of human rights violators 

Among the findings of Torture and Other Ahuses [)urinR the 1995 Crackdmt'fl 011 Allegl'd 
Zapatistas. Human Rights Watch/Americas documents: 

• Four of seven detainees arrested in Yanga, Veracruz state, on February 8, 1995. and la ter 
interviewed by Human Rights Watch/ Americas, were subjected to gross physical and 
psychological torture, including near drowning and electric shocks. They now face c harge~ 

based, in part, on coerced confessions. The governmental National Human Rights 
Commission (Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos. CNDH) found that the Oflice nr 
the Attorney General tried to cover up the abuses. Government prosecutors and judges 
ha ve failed to investiga te the allegations of torture. 

• Police severely beat the detainees from Cacalomacán, State ofMéxico, on February 9. 
1995; one reported to Human Rights Watch/ Americas that officials tortured him by 
placing a plastic bag over his head . While in detention. officials blindfolded the detainees. 
deprived one with gunshot wounds of medica! care for forty-eight hours, and forced them 
to sign confessions incriminating themselves. Military officials held one of the detainees 
incommunicado for fifteen days, in violation of Mexican law. 

• Government and judicial authorities ha ve failed to take proper steps to investigare the 
abuses, identify the state agents responsible, and enforce existing laws designed to protect 
citizens from abuses. such as the Federal Law to Prevent and Punish Torture. The law 
requires that allegations oftorture be investigated, but even given National Human Rights 
Commission documentation of torture in .the Yanga case, no such investigation has begun 
In the Cacalomacán case, representatives of the Office of the Attorney General sought to 
interview the detainees regarding their allegations of torture, but, because the officials 
reportedly did not give prior notice to them or their lawyers, they did not trust them 
enough to grant the interviews. 
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Human Rights Watch/ Americas urges the government of Mexico to take the follo wing 
steps: 

• Regarding the detainees, the information obtained through torture and other illegal 
practices should be disregarded by prosecutors and judges. Where such informar ion form s 
the only basis for indictments, the accused should be immediately released without 
charges. Human Rights Watch/ Americas recognizes that a judge ruled this way in 
November in the case ofMaría Gloria Benavides, and dropped all charges against her. but 
notes that the government has failed to investigare the violations that led the judge to 
acquit her. 

• Mexican legislation expressly prohibits and penalizes the use oftorture and renders invalid 
legal statements made under torture. Nonetheless, these practices persist, pointing to the 
need for Mexico to adopt further legislation to end these abuses and adopt measures to 
ensure that officials camply with such laws and punish those wha violate thern . Further 
legislatian should focus on elirninating precedents that give greater weight ta the tirst 
official statements detainees make -- which are more frequently given under duress -- than 
to statements given befare judges. It shauld alsa seek to establish greater independence 
between poli ce investigations, prasecutors ' develaprnent of charges, and judges ' decisions 
ta indict suspects. Allegations af torture should be immediately and thoroughly 
investigated in a way that gives victims confidence in th.:! integrity of the investigation. 

• If government afficials do not prasecute those agents who engage in human rights 
violations, no legislation to end torture and forced confessions, no matter haw well crattecl 
ar detailed, will succeed . Human Rights Watch/Americas urges that a detailed 
investigarían by the Office afthe Attarney General be undertaken to determine who is 
respansible far the human rights vialatians cammitted by federal and state afficials. The 
results af the attarney general' s investigation shauld be made public and should be 
follawed by the timely prosecution of state agents implicated in wrangdoing. The 
government of Mexica should alsa begin a systematic review of allegations af torture or 
other cruel, inhuman, or ctegrading treatment, beginning with the detailed information on 
the issue gathered and analyzed by the National Human Rights Cammissian aver the last 
five years. Those implicated in committing these abuses should be prosecuted and 
punished according to the law. 

Human Rights Watch/Americas urges the government ofthe United States to take the 
following steps: 

• The United States must make clear and public statements denouncing the serious human 
rights violations committed during the February 1995 otfensive. The silence of the Unit ed 
States on human rights issues in Mexico, combined with its support for the Zedillo 
government and economic integration, send the unambiguous message that human right s 
abuses in Mexico are not of concern to the United S tates. 
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• The United S tates and Mexico are currently reviewing the possibility of developing a 
training and exchange program for Mexican police, judges, and prosecutors. US 
financia! assistance for Mexican police and the administration ofjustice should be used b' 
the United S tates as part of a broader strategy to pro mote human rights reforms in 
Mexico; the U.S. should include clear human rights goals in the exchange and training 
program. IfMexican officials fail to make demonstrable progress into investigating case~ 
of abuse by police and prosecutors, such as the violations committed during the FebruarY 
1995 crackdown, the United States should consider withdrawing such assistance 

Copies ofthe reportare available from the Publications Department, Human Rights Watch, 485 
Fifth Avenue, New York, NY 10017 for $3 .60 (domestic) and $4 50 (international) Visa and 
MasterCard accepted . 

Human Rights Watch/Americas 
Human Rights Watch is a nongO\·emmental organization established in llJ7X to monitor and promotc the 
observance of intemationally recognized human rights in A frica. thc Amcricas. Asia, the Middle East and 
among the signatories ofthe Hclsinki accords . lt is supported by contributions from private indi\'iduals and 
foundations worldwide. lt accepts no go\'ernmcnt funds . directly or indircctly. The staff includes Kcnnelh 
Roth, executive director: Cynthia Br0\\11. program director: Holly J. Burkhalter. ad\'ocacy director: Roben 
Kimzey, publications director: Jeri Laber. special ad\'isor: Gara LaMarche. associate director: Lottc Leichl. 
Brussels office director: Juan Méndez. general counscl: S usan Osnos. communications director: Jemera Ronc. 
counse1: and Joanna Weschler. United Nations representati\'e. Robert L. Bemstein is the chair ofthc board 
and Adrian W DcWind is vice chair. Its Amcricas di\'ision was establishcd in 19R 1 lo monitor human rrghl ~ 
in Latin America and the Caribbean. José Miguel Vi\'anco is executi\'e director: Anne Manuel is dcpul~ 
director: James Cavallaro is the Brazil director: Joel Solomon is the research director: Sebastian Brell. Sarah 
DeCosse. Robin Kirk. and Gretta Tovar Siebcntritt are research associates : Michael Bochenek is the Leonard 
Sandler fellow: Steve Hemández and Paul Paz y Mirio are associates . Stcphen L. Kass is the chair or !he 
advisory committee: Marina Pinto Kaufman and Da,·id E. Nachman are ,·ice chairs. 
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Hl..M-\.N RJGHTS WATCH!A:\1ERICAS INSTA A ZEDILLO A QUE RESPONDA 
ANTE LOS ABUSOS OFICIALES CO:\ I'\\.l::STI GACIOI'\"ES PENALES 

La policía y los fiscales mexicanos c.ome~ieron graves \'iolacioncs n los derechos 

hwnanos, incluyendo la práctica de la tOrtura. durante la ofcnsi' a contrn supuestl)S miembro~ 

del Ejérc:to Zapatist.<t de Liberari6n Nacional (EZLN) el ano pasado. según Hum<1n R1 ghts 

Watch/ Amcricas . En el infame tin1lndo Torture and Other Abuses Dum11; thc I!.J95 

Crackdown on Alleged Zapanstas (Tortura y Otro~ A huso~ Cometidos Duronte lo Ofensi\·a 

de lW~ en Contrn de Supuestos Znpotl s t :~s). que st" publico ho\' . st" eloboro tm nut'\ 'O es1udi r1 

de casos de violaciones vmculados a la ofen siva gubernamental . La orgum;r.ocion de derechos 

humono'!l , cuyo sedt se encuentra en Nuc\'a York. llegó a la conclusión que funcionnrim 

gubemam::ntales golpearon n los deten1dos, arrancaron confestones . violaron garantías ni debido 

proceso l~gal e intentaron encubri r sus abusos La tortura y las confesiones forzndns solo 

podr6n ser eliminadas en México. sostiene el infonne. ~¡ las más altas outoridade s. inclu\endo 

el Presidente E!Th."'StO Zcdillo. se aseguran que los responsables de tules abusos son procesados 

por sus crímenes Hasta la fech a. continú a la impun idad en los c a.~os docwnentndos en el 

informe d=: Human Rights Watch/Amcricas . 
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"Es muy preocupante que en México exista la práctica generaliznda p0r parte de funcionari os estntnlc-s 
de torturar o golpear a los detenidos. fiscales que arranc!l!1 confesiones tkgalmente y Jueces que ndJ111ten cst <~ 

evidencia C0010juridicamente válida," aftnnó el Dr. José Miguel Vivanco, Director EJecutiYO de Humnn R1 ght ' 
Watch/Americas "También estar'll05 a.ltamenu: preocupados por el nivel de 1mpun1dad por las' Jol ncionc5 o los 
dC'rcchos humanos que se siguen cometiendo en Méxjco." 

El informe titulado . Tortura y Otros Abusos Cometidos Durante la Ofensiva de 1 9!J5 ('nnrrt1 
SupueSTos lapatistas docwnenta violaciones a los derechos humanos cometidas a parm de febrero del oi'l n 

pasado. cuando el recientemente elegido Presidente Ernesto Zedillo orden6 al ejercito me:\Jcano col;¡bora r con 

la Procuradurí11 Generl\l dr.l11 República piU'a detener 11los supuestos líderes del EZL\.J Durante cJnco d1us el 
ejérctto luchó para rtstablccer el control del tcrritono en el cual el EZU\ había operado desde enero de 1 'J1J4. ~ 
policías federales y estatak.s trabajaron c..oordinnda.mente para detener a hombres ~ mujeres ocusndos de s:.:r 
líderes del mo-vintiento armado. El 8 y 9 de febrero. agentes estatales detuvieron a más de veinte ~upucsto <; 

mJembros del EZLN entre~ estados diferentes y en el Distrito Federal. La ma~·orín de los supuestos 1apntisl il' 
siguen encarcelados. acusados de crímenes tales como rebelión y sedición 

Human Rights Watch/Americns destaca en su infonne, que el Presidente Zcddlo hn rtcono(l(i <~ 

públicamente la cxistencin de violaciones a los derechos humanos y la generalizada impunidad que re1n\1 en 
México No obstante. la organi1.ación de derechos humanos critica con tim1eza al gob1emo mc'\ ICJ no rN nc' 
trabaJar eficaz y concertadamen~ parn logrnr que las garantías fom1ale s a los derechos hwnJnos \ l;:¡s 
dedarocíoncs oficiales sobr~ esta mnteria, se transformen en autentica protew ón mediante el proccs:l lll lC nto de 

los responsables de estos abusos . 

Entre las conclusiones ak:anzadas en el informe Tortura y OtrM Ahu.sos Cometidos Dr,rantc /;¡ ()f¿'n li\'17 

dt: /')95 Contra Supuestos Zapatistas , Human Rights Wntch/Amcricas destaca lns siguientes· 

• Cuatro de las siete personas detenidas en Y anga, Estado de Veracruz, el 8 de febrero de 199 S. y luego 
mtre\1stndns por Human Rights Wntch/Amcricas. fueron objeto de grnves torturns fisicns ,. sicoló r,icn ~ . 

incluyendo $Ofocamic:nto y choques eléctricos. Ellos se encuentran actualmente procesndos. en pnrte . 
debido a SU5 confesiones formdas La Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos (CNDH J conclu) ó que 
la Procuraduria General de lo. República hAbío intentado encubrir estos abusos . Tanto los fiscales como 
los jueces a 'argo de estos casos no han investigado estas denuncias de tortura 

• Agentes de la policía golpearon severamente a los detenidos en Cacalomacán. Estado de Méx1co. el ') 
de febrero de 1995 ; uno de los detcttidos ínf00l16 a Human Rights Watch/ Americas que agentes est¡¡talcs 
lo habían torturado , colocando tmH bolso de plástico sobre su caheTa. Lo~ agentes vendnron los ojos de 
los detenidos, negándole a WlO de ellos tratamiento médic.o para curar sus heridas de bala durnnt r 
cuarenta y ocho horas, y los forzaron a tim1ar declaraciones auto-i.nculpatorins . Agentes del ejército 
mantuvieron a uno de los detenidos incomunicado durante quince díns. en violacion de l¡¡ ley rncx1cnmJ 

• Auroridades gubernamentAles y judiciales no hnn cumplido con su obligndón de inicinr im cstigocioncs 
sobre estos abusos, identificar a los agentes del estado responsables de estos crímenes. y respetnr la s 
leyes diseñadas parn proteger nlos ciudadanos de estas prácticas, como In Ley Federal pnrn Prevenir' 
Sancionar la Tortura La ley exige que las denuncias de tortUras sean investigadas Sin emb¡¡rgo. a pesur 
de que la Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos ha documentado el uso de la tortura en el "\so de 
Yanga. aún no se han iniciado dicbao; investigaciones En el caso de Cacalomacán. functon;¡rios de 1J 
Procuraduria Gen•!ral de la República intentaron entrevistar a los detenidos que denuncinron t cmunl~ . 
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pero debido a que los agentes no habían dado aviso preYio a los detenidos o !l sus abogndos. los 
prisioneros se negaron a cooperar por falta de confianza. 

Human RighL~ Watch/Amcricas solicit.a al gobierno mc-...icanc que adopte lns 5iguicntc::; mcdido5 · 

1 Con respecto a l~ detenidos, la informac1on obtenida mediante tortur!l y otrfts prócticos ilegílles dehe 
ser cxcluíd8 del proceso por parte de los ti sea les y los jueces que están conociendo de estos hechos . En 
casos donde d1cha informac16n constituve la úmca pruebo en contra de los procesados. los ocusndos 
deben ser puestos en libertAd iruned1atamente Humtu1 R.ights Watch/Amcric~ reconoce que . a lo 
meno~. un jue; a.c:tu <'> de esta manera en m)viemhre rasado en el c;¡so de Mariu Glonn Lknu vidc~ . 

obsolviendola de tCKios los cargos S111 embargo. Hwnan R.Jghts Wau:h!Amcricns lílmentíl que el 
gobierno no hava promm·ido una In\'estigociÓn acerca de las' lO laciones que motivaron In dec:1 S1Ón del 
JUez.. 

• La 1~ mcx.ic!\Ila expresamente prohíbe ) pcnaliz.a la tonura y declara que es nuln todo infom1nci6n 
recibida baJO estas condlci()O('.S. Sin embargo. la tortura se sigue practicando, demostrando con ello que 
el gob1erno de ~éxico debe promulgar legislac ión ad ic1onal para poner fm ¡¡ estos b'TilYes ilbll$OS. 

adoptar mod.Kias conc:retAg para asegurar que los agentes del estado cwnplan con su responsabilidad de 
acucroo a la lt;. y castigar a aquellot; que cometen estas Yiolacioncs. t\ucYa kf,'lSIJCIÓO e5 neces aria para 
modificar la tendtnc1a de la jwisprudenc1a de los tribUilales mex1canos , que se hnn cnrncremado por 
otorgar más valor a las pnmeras declarac iones ofic1ales prestadas por los detenidos ·· que o menudo se 
obtienen bnJO coacción •. en lugar de las declarocJones prestndns con posteriordidad unte los jueces 
Jguclmentc. debe e'ltDhlecersc mnyor independenc ia entre la etapa de ilvenguílctón prc,ia conducidn pN 
la pol!da . la daborac16n de la acusac16n por parte de los fiscales. y lo dt4:isión de los jueces de dictar 
auto de fomml pru1ón Denuncias de torturo deben ser r!Í.pida y exhaustivltlTlente investigados de moncrn 
que ex1sla confianza en las vlctimas acerca de la rectitud v seriedad de rucho investigación. 

• Si las autoridades mexicanas no proc.esan a los agentes responsables de violaciones a los derechos 
humanos . ninguna legislación. por bien que haya sido diseñada. sera eficaz. Hwnan Righls 
W atch/ America.s insta a la Procuraduría General de la República que emprendn unn riguros¡¡ 
uwestigación a fin de determinar la identidad de los funcionarios federales y estatales responsables de 
violnriones a los derechos humanos. los conclusiones de lo mvestJgnción de. In Procurnduria Gener;¡\ 
de la Repúbli~ dehen ser publicadas y segu1das del prc:>asamiento de los agentes responsables de estos 
abu.sos El gobierno mcxjcano debe in1cta.r unn exhnustiva y sistemática evaluación de lns denuncias de 
tortura y otros tratos cruele~ . inhumanos. o degradantes . empezando con In dctnllndn infom10ción 
recopilada y 1111a.liz.ada por la Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos dur1111te los últimos cinco nños 
Los acusados de violaciones a los derechos humanos deben ser procesados y castigados de :1cuerdo cor1 
la ley. 

Human Rigbts Wilt.ch/Americas inst..!l al gobierno de los Estados Unidos que tome los siguientes pasos 

1 El gobiWlO de los Estados Unidos debe públicamente denuncii!I las graves violnciones o los derecho~ 
hl..Ul'laOOs cometidas duran~ la ofensiva gubcmnmcntnl de febrero de 1995 . El silencio de los Estados 
\.!m dos sobre la ~ituación de los derechos hUI11anos en Méx.ico, combinado con el público npo) o ni 
gobierno del Pre~ndcnte Ernesto Zodillo y los programas integración económtca. envínn el inequ ívoco 
mensaje que a los Estbdos Unidos no les importa las violoc1ones n los dew:hos humnnos que se cometen 
en México 
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1 Los gobiernos de los Estados Unidos y México estan evalunndo la posibilidad de desarrollar un 
programa & entrenamiento e intercambio de policias, jueces y fiscales mexicanos . Ayuda financ1c r::~ 

estadounidense para la policia mexicana y para la administración de justicia debe ser utilizada por el 
gobierno de los Estados Unidos para promover una estrategia en favor de refom1as sust¡wc,ales sobré 
derechos hwnanos en México; el gobierno de los Estndos Unidm dchc fijar objetivos concretos d(: 
derechos hwnanos en su programa de entrenamiento e intercambio. Si las autoridade~ dtl gob1érno de 
México no demuestran progrt'SO en investigaciones sobre violaciones a los derechos humnnos comct1da ~ 

por l~t policla y los fiscales , como los graves abusos cometidos en la ofensiva de febrero de 1995. el 
gobierno de Jos E3tados Unidos de~ considerill' la suspensión de estos progrnmns de cooperilcrcin 

.. "' 

Human Rtghts Watd'I IAmencas (antcrionnentc: Americns Watch) 
Human Rights Watch es una organización no gubernamental creada m 197R a fin de vigilar~ promo\ er el respeto 
de los dcro;hos h~ R"aJOOCidos internacionalmente en Africa, las Américas. Asia, el Oriente :-.1cdro , . entre 
los stgnAtario6 de los~ de Helsinki. Kenneth Roth es el Director Ejccuti-.o; Cynthin Brov.n es In Dt rector<J 
de Progrnmas; HoHy J Burldull~ es lA :Dircctcn de Promoción . La división de las Amcricns fu~ creodo t'n 1 0R 1 
n fin de supcrvisar y promover el respete de los derechos humanos en América Latina y el Caribe José ~1igue l 

Vi vanco es el Director Ejecuttvo. Anne Manuel es la Subdirectora, Joel Solomon es el D1rector de 
Investigaciones, James Cavallaro es el Director de la oftcina do Brasil . Sebastian Brett, Sarah DeCosse. Robm 
Kirk. y Gretta Tovar Siebentritt son los investigadores, Michacl Bochcnck es ~ano de Leonnrd H Sondll:'r 
Su,"Vcn Hemándcz y Paul Pnz y Mifio son los asistentes. Stephcn L. Kass es Presidente del Directorio de Hwn nn 
R.ights Watch!Americas y Marina Pinto Kaufman y David Nachman Vicepresidentes 
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